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Introduction

Opening remarks
Welcome to Grant Thornton New Zealand’s second edition of model financial statements for entities 
applying New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). Full 
compliance with NZ IFRS and best practice as defined by the accounting profession and New Zealand 
regulators (including the recently established Financial Markets Authority) remains a real challenge for 
many organisations. 

It’s been an eventful year from a financial reporting perspective. It began with the Government’s May 
2010 Budget changes to tax depreciation deductions on buildings had a major adverse and unexpected 
impact on reporting entities accounting for deferred tax on long-lived buildings, with many entities 
reporting a one-off increase in deferred tax liabilities. The reporting of this event is significant, and we 
encourage those affected entities to keep in regular contact with us. In addition the Christchurch 
earthquakes will have a significant impact on many entities, especially in regards to impairment of assets 
and decreases in anticipated cash inflows.    

The purpose of these model financial statements is to assist you in preparing financial statements in 
accordance with all the relevant and appropriate requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and 
NZ IFRS, for a listed Company, incorporated in New Zealand.  It illustrates one possible format for 
financial statements, based on a fictitious Parent and Group, profit orientated company - Grant Thornton 
Holdings (NZ) Limited (the “Company”).  

The form and content of these model financial statements addresses the presentation of transactions that 
are typical for a New Zealand Group, with a focus on areas of recent changes in NZ IFRS effective for 
the year ended 30 June 2011 (and 31 March 2011). However, the illustrative financial statements do not 
envisage every possible transaction and cannot therefore be viewed as providing an example of all 
possible financial reporting disclosures.  Management is ultimately responsible for the true and fair 
presentation of financial statements and therefore may find other approaches more appropriate in their 
specific circumstances.   

The Group is assumed to have prepared financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS for a number 
of years. Therefore, this is not a first time adopter of NZ IFRS. Readers should refer to NZ IFRS 1 First-
time Adoption of New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards for specific disclosure 
requirements required upon first-time adoption. Grant Thornton has produced model financial 
statements to assist the first-time adopter and these are available on our website.

The model financial statements have been reviewed and updated to reflect changes in NZ IFRSs that are 
effective for the year ended 30 June 2011 (and also applicable to 31 March 2011 year-ends).  No account 
has been taken of any new developments published after January 2011. The Grant Thornton website 
contains any updates to recently released standards and amendments, latest developments require careful 
consideration when preparing your financial statements.

We encourage you to make contact with your local Grant Thornton contact to discuss any assistance we 
can provide in navigating the challenges of reporting under the NZ IFRS framework in 2011.



Scope and limitations
These model financial statements do not, and cannot be expected to cover all accounting disclosure 
requirements and best practice that may be uncounted in practice. The use of this publication is not a 
substitute for pre-requisite knowledge of NZ IFRS and other legislative financial reporting disclosure 
requirements.

In case of doubt as to the requirements, the authoritative support for treatment should be considered 
against the substance of the transaction, and where appropriate independent advice obtained. The model 
financial statements disclose the most common requirements; they should not be regarded as a
comprehensive checklist of all possible disclosures.    

Specifically, these model financial statements do not provide guidance on the “public benefit entity”
disclosure requirements of NZ IFRS and the disclosure requirements of the following standards:
• NZ IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial 

Reporting Standards.
• NZ IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
• NZ IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources
• NZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, in relation to Appendix E, New 

Zealand- Specific 
Additional Disclosure Requirements Applicable to Financial Institutions

• NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007), in relation to a Statement of 
Service Performance only

• NZ IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans
• NZ IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
• NZ IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting
• NZ IAS 41 Agriculture
• FRS - 42 Prospective Financial Statements
• FRS - 43 Summary Financial Statements

In addition the applications of a number of NZ IFRS Interpretations (NZ IFRIC and NZ SIC) have not 
been illustrated in these financial statements.
 
Alternative treatments
In some cases NZ IFRS permits more than one accounting treatment for the same transaction or event. 
Preparers of financial statements should choose the treatment that is most relevant to their business. The 
model financial statements explanatory notes highlights where specific accounting alternatives are 
available.  

Authoritative support
NZ IFRS New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
NZ IAS New Zealand Equivalent to International Accounting Standard
NZ SIC New Zealand Equivalent to SIC Interpretation
CA Companies Act 1993
FRA Financial Reporting Act 1993
NZX New Zealand Stock Exchange Listing Rules
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Grant Thornton Holdings (NZ) Limited

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

CG Handbook 
Principle 4 
Guideline 4.4 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation, in accordance with New Zealand law and generally accepted 
accounting practice, financial statements which give a true and fair view of the financial position of Grant Thornton 
Holdings (NZ) Limited (the “Parent”) and its consolidated subsidiary entities (the “Group”) as at 30 June 2011 and
the results of their financial operations and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2011. 

The Directors consider that the financial statements of the Parent and Group have been prepared using 
accounting policies appropriate to the Parent and Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all applicable New Zealand equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards have been followed. 

The Directors have responsibility for ensuring that proper accounting records have been kept which enable, with 
reasonable accuracy, the determination of the financial position of the Parent and Group and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Financial Reporting Act 1993.

CG Handbook 
Principle 6 
Guideline 6.3 

The Directors have responsibility for the maintenance of a system of internal controls designed to provide 
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.  The Directors consider that adequate 
steps have been taken to safeguard the assets of the Parent and Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities. 

CA.208(1), 
211(1) 

The Directors are pleased to present the Parent and Group financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011. 
C.211(1)(b),(k) 
FRA.10(1)(b),13
(1)(b)

This annual report is dated 26 August 2011 and is signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made 
pursuant to section 211(1)(k) of the Companies Act 1993. 

For and on behalf of the Directors

______________________ ________________________

Director Director  



Independent Auditors Report

To the Shareholders of Grant Thornton Holdings (NZ) Limited

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the parent and group financial statements of Grant Holdings (NZ) Limited on pages 9
to 42, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of parent and group financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and that give a true and fair view of the 
matters to which they relate, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud of error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the parent and group financial statements based on our 
audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand).  
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent and group financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the parent and group financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they 
relate in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the presentation of the parent and group financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in the parent and group.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 9 to 42:

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 

• comply with International Financial Reporting Standards;

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the parent and group as at 30 June 2011 and 
their financial performance and their cash flows for the year ended on that date.



Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Matters
Per the Financial Reporting Act 1993:

• we have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required;

• in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by parent and group as far as appears 
from an examination of those records.

Grant Thornton Audit Partnership
Wellington
26 August 2011
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NZ IAS 1.10(b) Statement of comprehensive income (alternative 1)

For the year ended 30 June 2011
Notes Group Parent

NZ IAS 1.38, 39 2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

NZ IAS 1.82 (a) Revenue 9 206,193 191,593 51,548 47,898
Cost of sales (111,523) (103,606) (27,881) (25,902)
Gross profit 94,670 87,987 23,667 21,996

Other income 427 641 - -
Distribution expenses (12,213) (11,473) - -
Overheads and administration (48,853) (45,894) (5,670) (18,154)

NZ IAS 38.126 Research and development costs (1,690) (1,015) - -
NZ IFRIC 17.15 Gain on distribution to owners - - - -

Other expenses (11,032) (11,270) - -
Operating profit 10 21,309 18,976 17,997 3,842

Finance income 11 994 793 249 198
NZ IAS 1.82(b) Finance costs 11 (3,473) (3,594) - (87)

Net financing costs (2,479) (2,801) 249 111

NZ IAS 1.82(c) Share of profits of associates 7 60 12 60 12
Change in fair value of investment property 310 175 78 44
Other financial asset movements 12 3,388 3,599 847 900
Profit before tax 22,588 19,961 19,231 4,909

NZ IAS 1.82(d)
NZ IAS 1.12.77 Income tax expense 13 (7,132) (6,184) (1,783) (1,546)
NZ IAS 1.82(f) Profit for the year from continuing operations 15,456 13,777 17,448 3,363
NZ IAS 1.82(e)
NZ IFRS 5.33(a)

Loss for the year from discontinued 
operations (net of income tax)

20 (9) (325) - -

Net Profit for the year 15,447 13,452 17,448 3,363

NZ IAS 1.82(g) Other comprehensive income
NZ IAS 16.77(f) Gains/(losses) on revaluation of land 303 - 76 -

Cash flow hedges 
NZ IFRS 7.23 - Current year gains/ (losses) 367 (47) 92 (12)
NZ IAS 1.92 - Reclassification to profit and loss 260 (425) 65 (106)

Available-for-sale financial assets 
NZ IFRS 7.20(a) - Current year gains/ (losses) 113 35 28 9
NZ IAS1.92 - Reclassification to profit and loss (50) - (13) -

Translation of foreign operations
NZ IAS 21.52(b) - Current year gains/ (losses) (664) (341) (166) (85)
NZ IAS1.92 - Reclassification to profit and loss - - - -

Other comprehensive income - associates
NZ IAS 1.82(h) - Current year gains/ (losses) 7 5 - 5 -
NZ IAS 1.92 - Reclassification to profit and loss 7 (3) - (3) -
NZ IAS 1.90 Income tax on other comprehensive income 14 85 95 21 24
NZ IAS 1.82(i) Other comprehensive income for the year 416 (683) 103 (170)

NZ IAS 1.82(i) Total comprehensive income for the year 15,863 12,769 17,551 3,272
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These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 10

Statement of comprehensive income (continued) (alternative 1)

For the year ended 30 June 2011

Notes Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Net profit for the year is attributable to:
NZ IAS 1.83(a)(i) Equity holders of the parent 15,326 13,336 17,448 3,363
NZ IAS 1.83(a)(i) Non controlling interest 121 116 - -

Total 15,447 13,452 17,448 3,363

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:
NZ IAS 1.83(b)(ii) Equity holders of the parent 15,742 12,653 17,751 3,272
NZ IAS 1.83(b)(i) Non controlling interest 121 116 - -

Total 15,863 12,769 17,751 3,272

NZ IAS 33.66 Earnings per share
From continuing and discontinuing operations
Basic (cents per share) 1.22 1.14
Diluted (cents per share) (0.00) (0.03)
Total 1.22 1.11

NZ IAS 33.66 Earnings per share
From continuing operations
Basic (cents per share) 1.22 1.14
Diluted (cents per share) (0.00) (0.03)
Total 1.22 1.11
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Commentary – Statement of comprehensive income
1. The statement of comprehensive income has been prepared in accordance with NZ IAS 1 

Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised 2007), which introduced the concept of a statement of 
comprehensive income.  The statement of comprehensive income may be presented in one of the 
following ways: 
• in a single statement of comprehensive income, or 
• in two statements: a statement displaying components of profit or loss (separate income 
statement) and a statement of comprehensive income. 

The example financial statements illustrate a statement of comprehensive income in a single
statement. A two statement presentation is provided in Appendix A.

2. An analysis of expenses shall be presented using a classification based on either the nature of 
expenses or their function within the entity, whichever provides information that is most relevant 
and reliable. Entities are encouraged, but not required to present the analysis of expenses in the 
statement of comprehensive income or in a separate income statement (if presented).

3. This statement of comprehensive income format illustrates an example of the “function of expense” 
or “cost of sales” method. See Appendix A for a format illustrating the “nature of expense” method.

4. An entity shall disclose in the statement of comprehensive income or in a separate income statement 
(if presented) or within the notes the amounts of each significant category of revenue recognized in 
the year including revenue arising from sale of goods, rendering of services, interest, royalties, 
dividends and the amount or revenue arising from exchange of goods and services included in each 
category of revenue. 

5. This statement of comprehensive income presents an “operating profit” subtotal, which is 
commonly seen but is not required or defined in NZ IFRS’.  Where this subtotal is provided, the 
figure disclosed should include items that would normally be considered to be operating.  It is 
inappropriate to exclude items clearly related to operations (e.g. inventory write-downs, restructuring 
and relocation expenses) on the basis that they do not occur regularly or are unusual in amount.

6. This statement of comprehensive income includes an amount representing the entity's share of 
profit from equity accounted investments.  This amount represents profit after tax and non-
controlling interest in those investments (as indicated in the Illustrative Financial Statement Structure 
in NZ IAS 1).

7. NZ IAS 1 requires the entity to disclose reclassification adjustments and related tax effects relating 
to components of other comprehensive income either on the face of the statement or in the notes. 
In this example the entity presents reclassification adjustments and current year gains and losses 
relating to other comprehensive income on the face of the statement of comprehensive income (NZ 
IAS 1.92).  An entity may instead present reclassification adjustments in the notes, in which case the 
components of other comprehensive income are presented after any related reclassification 
adjustments (NZ IAS 1.94).

8. According to NZ IAS 1.90 an entity shall disclose the amount of income tax relating to each 
component of other comprehensive income, either on the face of the statement of comprehensive 
income or in the notes.  In this example the entity presents components of other comprehensive 
income before tax with one amount shown for the aggregate amount of income tax relating to all 
components of other comprehensive income (NZ IAS 1.91(b)).  Alternatively, the entity may present 
each component of other comprehensive income net of related tax effects, NZ 1.91(a).  If the tax 
effects of each component of other comprehensive income are not presented on the face of the 
statement this information shall be presented in the notes.
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NZ IAS 1.10(a) Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2011

Notes Group Parent
NZ IAS 1.38,39

NZ IAS 1.60,66

ASSETS
Current

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

NZ IAS 1.54(i) Cash and cash equivalents 16 34,789 11,237 8,698 2,809
NZ IAS 1.54(h) Trade debtors and other receivables 17 33,629 25,628 8,407 6,407
NZ IAS 1.54(g) Inventories 18 18,548 17,376 4,637 4,344
NZ IAS 1.55 Derivatives financial instruments 19 582 212 145 53
NZ IAS 1.54 (d) Other short-term financial assets 25 655 649 164 162
NZ IAS 1.54(n) Current tax assets - 308 - 77

88,203 55,410 22,051 13,852
NZ IAS 1.54(j) Assets and disposal group classified held for sale 20 103 3,908 - -

Total current assets 88,306 59,318 22,051 13,852

NZ IAS 1.60,66 Non-current
NZ IAS 1.57 Goodwill 21 5,041 3,537 - -
NZ IAS 1.54(c) Other intangible assets 22 17,424 13,841 4,356 3,460
NZ IAS 1.54(a) Property, plant and equipment 23 22,439 20,647 5,610 5,162
NZ IAS 1.54(b) Investment property 24 12,662 12,277 3,166 3,069
NZ IAS 1.54(d) Investment in subsidiaries 5 - - 31,579 18,421
NZ IAS 1.54(e) Investments in associates 7 430 23 430 23
NZ IAS 1.54(d) Other long-term financial assets 25 3,765 4,030 941 970
NZ IAS 1.54(o) Deferred tax assets 15 - 75 - 19

Total non-current assets 61,761 54,430 46,088 31,124

NZ IAS 1.55 TOTAL ASSETS 150,067 113,748 68,139 44,976

LIABILITIES
NZ IAS 1.69,70 Current
NZ IAS 1.54 (k) Trade creditors and other payables 26 9,059 7,096 2,265 1,774
NZ IAS 1.55 Employee entitlements 27 1,467 1,496 55 76
NZ IAS 1.54 (l) Provisions 28 1,215 3,345 - -
NZ IAS 1.54 (m) Current loans and borrowings 31 4,815 3,379 - -
NZ IAS 1.54 (n) Income tax payable 3,102 - 776 -
NZ IAS 1.54 (m) Derivative financial instruments 19 - 160 - 40
NZ IAS 1.55 Other liabilities and deferred income 32 2,758 3,475 - 2,598

22,416 18,951 3,096 4,488
NZ IAS 1.54(p) Liabilities included in disposal group held for sale 20 - 449 - 112

Total current liabilities 22,416 19,400 3,096 4,600

NZ IAS 1.69,70 Non-current
NZ IAS 1.54 (k) Trade creditors and other payables 26 4,096 4,608 1,024 1,152
NZ IAS 1.55 Employee entitlements 27 11,224 10,812 - -
NZ IAS 1.54 (m) Loans and borrowings 31 21,000 21,265 - -
NZ IAS 1.54(0) Deferred tax liabilities 15 5,397 3,625 1,162 876

Other liabilities and deferred income 32 2,020 1,650 14,045 22,751
Total non-current liabilities 43,737 41,960 16,231 24,779

TOTAL LIABILITIES 66,153 61,360 19,327 29,379

NET ASSETS 83,914 52,388 48,812 15,597
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These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 13

Statement of financial position (continued)
As at 30 June 2011

Notes Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

EQUITY
NZ IAS 1.54(r) Share capital 33 33,415 15,050 33,415 15,050
NZ IAS 1.54(r) Retained earnings 48,401 36,075 14,478 30
NZ IAS 1.55 Other equity reserves 1,385 671 919 517

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent 83,201 51,796 48,812 15,597
NZ IAS 1.54(q) Non-controlling interests 713 592 - -

TOTAL EQUITY 83,914 52,388 48,812 15,597

These financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on the 28 August
2011.

Director Director
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Commentary – Statement of financial position
Presentation choices
1. The statement of financial position includes a current and non-current distinction.  When presentation 

based on liquidity is reliable and more relevant, the entity can choose to present the statement of 
financial position in order of liquidity (NZ IAS 1.60).  The entity will then not present a current and 
non-current distinction in the statement of financial position.  However the disclosure requirements 
for amounts expected to be recovered or settled before or after 12 months must still be applied (NZ 
IAS 1.61).

2. The model financial statements use the terminology in NZ IAS 1; however an entity may use other 
titles (e.g. balance sheet) for the primary financial statements (NZ IAS 1.10).

3. Additional line items, headings and sub-totals shall be presented on the face of the statement of 
financial position when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial 
position (NZ IAS 1.77).

4. Entities shall disclose for each of the following categories of financial instruments, the carrying 
amounts either on the face of the statement of financial position or in the notes (NZ IFRS 7.8). 
(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, showing separately:

(i) Those designated as such upon initial recognition
(ii) Those classified as held for trading in accordance with NZ IAS 39

(b) Held-to-maturity investments
(c) Loans and receivables
(d) Available-for sale financial assets
(e) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, showing separately:

(i) Those designated as such upon initial recognition
(ii) Those classified as held for trading in accordance with NZ IAS 39

(f) Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

For the purposes of illustration we have not reflected the requirements of NZ IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments (replacement of NZ IAS 39), which is being released in three stages. This new standard 
which does not require adoption until 2013 (with early adoption permitted), has reduced the number 
of financial statement categories from four to two. 

Other matters 
1. If the entity:

(i) applies an accounting policy retrospectively, 
(ii) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or 
(iii)reclassifies items in the financial statements, the entity shall present a statement of financial 

position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period, i.e. an extra comparative 
statement of financial position, example 30 June 2009 (NZ IAS 1.10(f). 

These financial statements do not present a third balance sheet.

2. Section 101(b) of the Financial Reporting Act 1993, requires the financial statements to be signed and 
dated on behalf of the Board by two directors unless there is only one director, (Section 13(1)(b) 
contains the same requirement is respect of the group financial statements). These model financial 
statements place these signatures under the Responsibility Statement and at the bottom of the 
statement of financial position. Signed approval of the financial statements in only required at one 
place in the Annual Report.  
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NZ IAS 1.10(c) Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2011

NZ IAS 1.38,39 Share 
capital

Retained 
earnings

Share 
option 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Available-
for-sale 

revaluation 
reserve

Cash-flow 
hedges 
reserve

Total 
attributable 
to owners of 

parent

Non 
controlling 

interest

Total 
equity

Group 2010 Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Balance 1 July 2009 15,050 22,739 - (113) 689 - 312 38,677 476 39,153
Impact of change in accounting policy - - - - - - - - - -
Prior period adjustment - - - - - - - - - -
Restated balance 1 July 09 15,050 22,739 - (113) 689 - 312 38,677 476 39,163

NZ IAS 1.106(d)(i) Profit / (loss) for the year - 13,336 - - - - - 13,336 116 13,452
NZ IAS 1.106(d)(ii) Other comprehensive income 14 - - (246) - 35 (472) (683) - (683)
NZ IAS 1.106(d)(iii) Total comprehensive income for the 

year - 13,336 - (246) - 35 (472) 12,653 116 12,769

NZ IAS 1.106(d)(iii) Transactions with owners of the 
Company recorded directly in 
equity
Proceeds from share capital issued - - - - - - - - - -
Consideration paid for share capital 
buy-back - - - - - - - - - -

NZ IAS 1.107 Dividends to shareholders - - - - - - - - - -
Share-based payments - - 466 - - - - 466 466

Changes in ownership interests in 
subsidiaries
Acquisition of non-controlling interest 
without a change in control - - - - - - - - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling  interest 
with a change in control - - - - - - - - - -

Transactions with non-owners 
recorded directly in equity - - - - - - - - - -
Balance 30 June 2010 15,050 36,075 466 (359) 689 35 (160) 51,796 592 52,388
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Statement of changes in equity (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Share 
capital

Retained 
earnings

Share 
option 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Available-
for-sale 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 
reserve

Total 
attributable 
to owners of 

parent

Non 
controlling 

interest

Total 
equity

Group 2011 Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Balance 1 July 2010 15,050 36,075 466 (359) 689 35 (160) 51,796 592 52,388

Profit / (loss) for the year - 15,326 - - - - - 15,326 121 15,447
Other comprehensive income 14 - - - (488) 212 63 629 416 - 416
Total comprehensive income for the 
year - 15,326 - (488) 212 63 629 15,742 121 15,863

Transactions with owners of the 
Company recorded directly in equity
Issue of share capital 16,680 - - - - - - 16,680 - 16,680
Issue of share capital under share-based 
payment 1,685 - - - - - 1,685 - 1,685
Employee share based payment - 298 - - - - 298 - 298
Consideration paid for share capital buy-
back - - - - - - - - - -
Dividends to shareholders - (3,000) - - - - - (3,000) - (3,000)

Changes in ownership interests in 
subsidiaries
Acquisition of non-controlling interest 
without a change in control - - - - - - - - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling  interest 
with a change in control - - - - - - - - - -

Transactions with non-owners 
recorded directly in equity
Balance 30 June 2011 33,415 48,401 764 (847) 901 98 469 83,201 713 83,914
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Statement of changes in equity (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Share 
capital

Retained 
earnings

Share 
option 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Available-
for-sale 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 
reserve

Total 
equity

Parent 2010 Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance 1 July 2009 15,050 (3,333) - (28) 172 - 78 11,939

Profit/ (loss)  for the year - 3,363 - - - - - 3,363
Other comprehensive income 14 - - - (61) - 9 (118) (170)
Total comprehensive income for the 
year - 3,363 - (61) - 9 (118) 3,192

Transactions with owners of the 
Company recorded directly in equity
Proceeds from share capital issued - - - - - - - -
Share-based payments - 466 - - - - 466
Consideration paid for share capital buy-
back - - - - - - - -
Dividends to shareholders - - - - - - -

Transactions with non-owners 
recorded directly in equity - - - - - - - -
Balance 30 June 2010 15,050 30 466 (90) 172 9 (40) 15,597
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Statement of changes in equity (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Share 
capital

Retained 
earnings

Share 
option 

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve

Available-
for-sale  
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 
reserve

Total 
equity

Parent 2011 Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Balance 1 July 2010 15,050 30 466 (90) 172 9 (40) 15,597

Profit /(loss) for the year - 17,448 - - - - - 17,448
Other comprehensive income 14 - - (122) 53 15 157 103
Total comprehensive income for the 
year - 17,448 - (122) 53 16 157 17,551

Transactions with owners recorded 
directly in equity
Issue of share capital 16,680 - - - - - - 16,680
Issue of share capital under  share-
based payment 1,685 - - - - - - 1,685
Employee share based payment - - 298 - - - - 298
Consideration paid for share capital buy-
back - - - - - - - -
Dividends to shareholders - (3,000) - - - - - (3,000)

Transactions with non-owners 
recorded directly in equity - - - - - - -
Balance 30 June 2011 33,415 14,478 764 (212) 225 25 117 48,812
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Commentary – Statement of changes in equity (SOCIE)
Presentation choices
1. The statement of changes in equity format presented in these model financial statements shows a 

single line for “other comprehensive income”. The IASB 2010 Annual Improvements clarified that 
entities may present the required reconciliation for each component of other comprehensive income 
either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.

2. An entity shall present, either in the SOCIE or in the notes, the amount of dividends recognized as 
distributions to owners during the period, and the related amount per share.

Other matters 
1. NZ IFRS 2 Share-based Payment requires an entity to recognise equity-settled share-based payment 

transactions as changes in equity but does not specify how this is presented, e.g. in a separate reserve 
within equity or within retained earnings.  In our view, either approach would be allowed under NZ 
IFRS. Share option reserve has been credited with an increase in equity in this example. 
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NZ IAS 1.10(d) Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 June 2011

Notes Group Parent
NZ IAS 1.38,39 2011

$000
2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

NZ IAS 7.10(18)a Cash flow from operating activities
Cash was provided from/ (applied to):

NZ IAS 7.14a Receipts from customers 205,909 191,751 51,477 47,938
NZ IAS 7.31 Interest received 752 447 188 112
NZ IAS 7.31 Dividends received 62 21 16 5
NZ IAS 7.14(c),(d) Payments to suppliers and employees (188,919) (177,060) (46,155) (41,246)

Research and development costs paid (1,610) (1,015) (403) (254)
NZ IAS 7.14(f),35 Income tax paid (2,192) (5,728) (548) (1,432)

Net cash from continuing activities 14,002 8,416 4,575 5,123
Net cash from discontinued activities 20 (22) 811 (6) 203
Net cash flows from/ (used in) operating activities 36 13,980 9,227 4,569 5,326

NZ IAS 7.10,21 Cash flow from investing activities
Cash was provided from/ (applied to):

NZ IAS 7.16(b) Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment

86 - 22 -

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 924 - 231 -
NZ IAS 7.39 Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash 5 - - 3,117 -

Proceeds from sale of financial assets - - - -
Proceeds from sale of derivatives 228 132 57 33

NZ IAS 7.16(a) Purchase of property, plant and equipment 23 (76) (3,281) (19) (820)
NZ IAS 7.16(a) Purchase of intangible assets 22 (3,666) (3,313) (917) (828)
NZ IAS 7.39 Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash 5 - - (15,714) (12,076)
NZ IAS 7.16(a) Payments for investment properties - - - -

Payments to acquire financial assets - - - -
Net cash flow from/ (used in) investing activities (15,101) (18,538) (13,223) (13,691)

NZ IAS 7.10,21 Cash flow from financing activities
Cash was provided from/ (applied to):

NZ IAS 7.17(c) Proceeds from borrowings 1,441 - 360 -
NZ IAS 7.17(a) Proceeds from issue of share capital 18,365 - 18,365 -
NZ IAS 7.17(d) Repayment of borrowings (3,778) (649) (945) (162)
NZ IAS 7.31 Interest paid (1,035) (907) (259) (227)

Dividends paid (3,000) - (3,000) -
NZ IAS 7.42A Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - - -

Net cash flow from/ (used in) financing activities 11,993 (1,556) 14,521 (389)

NZ IAS 7.45 Net change in cash and cash equivalents 23,469 1,209 5,867 (8,754)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 11,259 10,007 2,815 11,557

NZ IAS 7.28 Foreign exchange differences 61 43 15 11
34,789 11,259 8,698 2,814

Included in disposal group - (22) - (5)
NZ IAS 7.45 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15 34,789 11,237 8,698 2,809
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Commentary – Statement of cash flows

Other matters 
1. NZ IFRS does not specify the classification of cash flows from interest and dividends received and 

paid, and an entity is required to choose its own policy for classifying interest and dividends paid and 
received as either operating or financing activities. NZ IAS 7 explicitly states that only expenditure 
that results in an asset can being recognised be classified as a cash flow from investing activities. 
Therefore these model financial statements have classified interest income, interest expense and 
dividend income as operating cash flows, dividends paid to shareholders are classified as financing 
activities.  

2. NZ IAS 7.30 requires an acquisition of a further share in a subsidiary while maintaining control to be 
classified as an equity transaction. NZ IAS 7.42A states that cash flows arising from changes to 
ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control shall be classified as cash 
flows from financing activities. 
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1 Reporting entity
The reporting entity is Grant Thornton Holdings (NZ) Limited (the "Parent"). The Parent is a 
profit orientated entity incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The "Group" comprising 
the Parent and its subsidiaries is a reporting entity for the purposes of the Financial Reporting 
Act 1993 and its financial statements comply with that Act. The Parent is an issuer as defined 
by the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and is publicly listed on the New Zealand Stock 
Exchange.

NZ IAS 1.138(a),(c)

The Parent and Group principal activities include the development, consulting, sale and 
service of customised IT and telecommunication services. The Group provides phone and 
intranet based in-house applications including the integration of mobile end devices into new 
and existing IT and telecommunication structures.  By integrating these activities, the Group 
acts as a one-stop-shop for the modern day communication requirements of small- to 
medium-sized companies.  Services include consulting activities that concentrate on the 
design of combined IT and telecommunication systems for clients.  The Group also delivers IT 
and telecommunication solutions specifically designed for the customer through modification 
of complex equipment.  The Group sells the hardware and software products of the Group's 
business partners and delivers extensive after-sale service and maintenance for these 
products.  The acquisitions and disposals described in note 6 are in line with the Group’s 
strategy to increase online sales capacity.

NZ IAS1.138(b) 

These financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 August
2011.

NZ IAS 10.17

2 Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance NZ IAS 1.16

The financial statements of the Parent and Group have been prepared in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand ("NZ GAAP") and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 1993 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993. They 
comply with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
("NZ IFRS") and other applicable financial reporting standards, as appropriate for profit-
oriented entities. The financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

NZ IAS 1.NZ15.1,2

(b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical costs basis, except for 
assets and liabilities that have been measured at fair value. 

The accrual basis of accounting has been used unless otherwise stated and the 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

NZ IAS 
1.117(a),118,112(a)

(c) Presentation currency NZ IAS 1.51(d),(e) 

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($), which is the Parent 
and Group’s functional currency. Numbers presented are rounded to the nearest 
thousand.

NZ IAS 21.53
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(d) Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial 
year, except that the Parent and Group have adopted the following new and amended 
New Zealand equivalents to IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as at 1 July 2010: 

NZ IAS 8.14

NZ IFRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions (effective from 
1 January 2010)
The amendments clarify the scope of NZ IFRS 2 by requiring an entity that receives 
goods or services in a share-based payment arrangement to account for those goods 
or services no matter which entity in the group settles the transaction, and no matter 
whether the transaction is settled in shares or cash. The revised standard did not have 
an impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. 

NZ IFRS 3 Business Combinations (effective from 1 July 2009) 
The revised standard on business combinations introduces major changes to the 
accounting requirements for business combinations. It retains the major features of the 
purchase method of accounting, now referred to as the acquisition method. The 
significant changes that had an impact of the Group’s business acquisitions in 2010 are 
as follows:
• Acquisition related costs of the business combination are recorded as an expense 

in the reported profit or loss. Previously, these costs would have been accounted 
for as part of the goodwill calculation.

• Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the 
contingent consideration arrangement gives rise to a financial liability, any 
subsequent changes are generally recognised in the reported profit or loss. 
Previously, contingent consideration was recognised as an adjustment to goodwill.

• The measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition 
date fair values is retained. However, the revised standard includes certain new 
exceptions and provides specific measurement rules.

The revised standard has been applied prospectively to business combinations for 
which the acquisition date is on or after 1 July 2009. Business combinations for which 
the acquisition date is before 1 July 2009 have not been restated.

NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective from 1 July 
2009)
The revised standard introduced changes to accounting for acquisitions of non-
controlling (previous called “minority”) interests and the loss of control of a subsidiary. 
These changes are applied prospectively.

Under the revised standard a change in ownership interest of a subsidiary (without a 
change in control) is to be accounted for as a transaction with owners in their capacity 
as owners. Therefore such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will they 
give rise to a gain or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. The adjustments 
to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of net assets of the 
subsidiary.

Previously, goodwill was recognised on the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a 
subsidiary, which represented the excess of the cost of additional investments over the 
carrying amount of the interest in the net assets acquired at the date of the transaction.
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NZ IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
The Parent and Group measure any liabilities to distribute non-cash assets to owners of the 
Company at the fair value of the assets to be distributed. The carrying amount of the dividend 
is re-measured at each reporting date and at the settlement date, with any changes 
recognised directly in equity as adjustments to the amount of the distribution. On settlement of 
the transaction, the Group recognises the difference, if any, between the carrying amounts of 
the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the liability in the reported profit or loss.  

The new IFRIC has been applied prospectively.

Improvements to IFRSs
In 2008 and 2009 the IASB issued an omnibus of amendments to its standards, affecting the 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 and June 2011, primarily with a view to 
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The adoption of the following amendments 
resulted in changes to accounting policies but did not have any impact on the reported 
financial position or performance of the Parent and Group:
• NZ IAS 17 Leases: The amendment requires that leases of land are classified as finance 

or operating by applying the general principles of NZ IAS 17. Prior to this amendment, NZ 
IAS 17 generally required a lease of land to be classified as an operating lease. The 
Parent and Group has reassessed the classification of the land elements of its unexpired 
leases at 1 July 2010 on the basis of information existing at the inception of those leases 
and determined that none of its leases require reclassification.

• NZ IFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be 
reported when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are used by the 
chief operating decision maker. As the Group’s chief operating decision maker does review 
segment assets and liabilities, the Group has continued to disclose this information.

• NZ IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Explicitly states that only expenditure that results in 
recognizing an asset can be classified as cash flows from investing activities.

• NZ IAS 18 Revenue: The Directors’ have added guidance to its accounting policies to 
determine whether the Parent and Group are acting as a principle or as an agent in 
revenue transactions. The Parent and Group have assessed its revenue arrangements 
against the criteria provided by the revised standard and concluded current recognition of 
revenue is consistent with the standard.

(e) New NZ IFRS standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted NZ IAS 1.16
NZ IAS 8.31

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards and 
interpretations to existing standards have been published but not yet effective, and have not 
been adopted early by the Parent and Group.

Management anticipates that all pronouncements will be adopted in the first accounting period 
beginning on or after the effective date of the new standard. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Parent and Group 
financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations 
issued but no yet effective, that are not expected to have a material impact on the Parent and 
Group’s financial statements have not been disclosed.
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NZ IFRS 9 – Financial instruments (effective from 1 January 2013)
The IASB aims to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in its 
entirety by the end of 2011, with replacement standard (NZ IFRS 9) to be effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The new standard is being issued in 
phases, with early adoption available as each phase is issued. To date, the chapters dealing 
with recognition, classification, measurement and de-recognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities have been issued. The chapters dealing with impairment and hedge 
accounting are still being developed.

Management have yet to assess the impact this new standard is likely to have on the 
recognition and measurement of financial assets held by the Parent and Group. However, 
they do not expect to implement the amendments until all chapters of NZ IFRS 9 have been 
published and they can comprehensively assess the impact of all changes.

2010 Improvements to IFRSs  (effective for years beginning 1 July 2010)
In May 2010 the IASB issued the annual omnibus of minor amendments to IFRS standards. 
Management has yet to complete a detailed review of these amendments, however upon 
preliminary review the impact is not expected to be significant.  

3 Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies of the Parent and Group have been applied consistently to all years 
presented in these financial statements.

NZ IAS 1.114(b)

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are 
summarised below:

NZ IAS 1.117(b)

(a) Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Parent and all 
entities over which the Parent has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so 
as to obtain benefits from their activities (defined as "subsidiaries"). The financial statements 
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases.

NZ IAS 27.12
NZ IAS 27.14
NZ IAS 27.26

All subsidiaries have a 30 June balance date and consistent accounting policies are applied. NZ IAS 27.26
NZ IAS 27.20,22

The purchase method is used to prepare the consolidated financial statements, which 
involves adding together like terms of assets, liabilities, income and expenses on a line-by-line 
basis. All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on 
consolidation, including unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group 
companies.  Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on 
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective.  
Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

NZ IAS 27.41(a)
NZ IAS 27.41(c)

In the Parent financial statements investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any 
impairment losses.

NZ IAS 27.42(c)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction.

NZ IAS 27.30
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If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
• Derecognises the cumulative carrying amount of foreign currency translation; differences 

recorded in reserves;
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income to profit or loss, or retained earnings as appropriate. 

NZ IAS 27.34

(b) Business Combinations
The consideration transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as 
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the 
equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability 
arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as 
incurred. 

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 
combination regardless of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree's
financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are 
generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

NZ IFRS 
3.4,18,19,37,53

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets.  It is calculated 
as the excess of the sum of (a) fair value of consideration transferred, (b) the recognised 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and (c) acquisition-date fair value of any 
existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values of identifiable net 
assets.  If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the 
excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the 
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the 
acquisition date through profit or loss.

NZ IFRS 3.42

(c) Investment in associates and joint ventures
Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but 
which are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures.  Investments in associates are initially 
recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity method.  Any goodwill or 
fair value adjustment attributable to the Group's share in the associate is not recognised 
separately and is included in the amount recognised as investment in associates.

NZ IAS 28.13

The Parent and Group generally deem it has significant influence if it has over 20% of the 
voting rights.

NZ IAS 28.6

The carrying amount of the investments in associates is increased or decreased to recognise 
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.  
These changes include subsequent depreciation, amortisation or impairment of the fair value 
adjustments of assets and liabilities

NZ IAS 
28.23,31,33
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The Parent and Group’s share of associate’s profit or losses is recognised in profit or loss, 
and its share of movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The cumulative movements are adjusted against the carrying amount 
of the investment. Dividends receivable from associates are recognised in the parent entity’s 
profit or loss as a component of “other income”.

NZ IAS 27.38A

The Parent and Group determine at each reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence that the associate investment is impaired. If this is the case the Parent and Group 
calculate the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the 
associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the “share of profit in an 
associate” in the statement of comprehensive income.

NZ IAS 28.31,33

Entities whose economic activities are controlled jointly by the Group and other venturers 
independent of the Group (joint ventures) are accounted for using the proportionate 
consolidation method, whereby the Group's share of the assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses is included line by line in the consolidated financial statements.

NZ IAS 31.15

Amounts reported in the financial statements of associates and jointly controlled entities have 
been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the 
Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint 
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in those entities.  Where 
unrealised losses are eliminated, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment.

(d) Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective 
Group entity, using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot 
exchange rate).  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items at year-end exchange rates are 
recognised in profit or loss.

NZ IAS 21.21, 
23(a)

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date of the transaction (not retranslated).  Non-monetary items measured at fair value are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

NZ IAS 21.23(b)

In the Group's financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities 
with a functional currency other than the NZD (the Group's presentation currency) are 
translated into NZD upon consolidation.  

NZ IAS 21.39

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into NZD at the closing rate at 
the reporting date.  Income and expenses have been translated into the Group's presentation 
currency at the average rate1 over the reporting period.  Exchange differences arising from 
items recognised as comprehensive income are recognised in the currency translation 
reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign operation the cumulative translation differences 
recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or loss and recognised as part of the gain or loss 
on disposal.  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity 
have been treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into NZD at the 
closing rate.

NZ IAS 39.102

(e) Segment reporting
In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Group's service lines, NZ IFRS 8.22(a)
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which represent the main products and services provided by the Group.

Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the chief 
operating decision makers – being the executive management team.

NZ IFRS 8.7

The activities undertaken by the consulting segment includes the sale, customisation and 
integration of IT and telecommunication systems.  Maintenance of these systems is 
undertaken by the service segment.  The retail segment includes the entire Group's internet-
based selling activities of hardware and software products.

NZ IFRS 8.22(b)

The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under NZ IFRS 8 Operating 
Segments are the same as those used in its financial statements, except that the following are 
not included in arriving at the operating profit of the operating segments :

• post-employment benefit expenses
• expenses relating to share-based payments
• research costs relating to new business activities
• revenue, costs and fair value gains from investment property

NZ IFRS 8.27(b-d)

In addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any 
operating segment are not allocated to a segment.  In the financial periods under review, this 
primarily applies to the Group's headquarters and the Illustrative Research Lab in Greatville.

There have been no changes from prior years in the measurement methods used to 
determine reported segment profit or loss.

NZ IFRS 8.27(e)

(f) Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to 
the Parent and Group and revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of consideration received, excluding sales taxes, rebates, and trade discounts. The 
Parent and Group assess its revenue arrangements against specific criteria to determine if it 
is acting as the principal or agent in a revenue transaction.  In an agency relationship only the 
portion of revenue earned on the Parent and Group’s own account is recognised as gross 
revenue in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Group often enters into sales transactions involving a range of the Group's products and 
services (multiple components). The Group applies the revenue recognition criteria set out 
below to each separately identifiable component of the sales transaction in order to reflect the 
substance of the transaction.  The consideration received from these transactions is allocated 
to the separately identifiable component by taking into account the relative fair value of each 
component.

NZ IAS 18.9,35(a)

The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods
Sale of goods comprises the sale of software and hardware, and is recognised when the 
Parent and Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
of the goods supplied.  Significant risks and rewards are generally considered to be 
transferred to the buyer when the customer has taken undisputed delivery of the goods.

NZ IAS 18.14

Revenue from the sale of hardware or software products with no significant service obligation 
is recognised on delivery. Where software or hardware requires significant tailoring, 
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modification or integration the revenue is recognised using the percentage of completion 
method as described below.

When goods are sold together with customer loyalty incentives, the arrangement is 
considered a multiple-element arrangement.  The consideration receivable is allocated 
between the components of the sale based on their fair values.  Revenue from sales of 
incentives is recognised when they are redeemed by customers in exchange for products 
supplied by the Group.

Rendering of services NZ IAS 18.20

Service revenue comprises after-sales service and maintenance, consulting, and construction 
contracts for telecommunication solutions.

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by 
reference to surveys of work performed. Under this method, revenue is recognised in the 
accounting periods in which the services are provided.

When the contract outcome cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the 
extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

NZ IAS 18.26

Rental income
Rental income arising from rental premises is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.  

NZ IAS 17.50

Construction contracts NZ IAS 11

The Group provides telecommunication solutions specifically customised to each customer.  
These contracts specify a fixed price for the development and installation of IT and 
telecommunication systems, and are within the scope of NZ IAS 11 Construction Contracts.

When the outcome can be assessed reliably, contract revenue and associated costs are 
recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of 
the contract activity at the reporting date.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable in relation to that activity.

When the Group cannot measure the outcome of a contract reliably, revenue is recognised 
only to the extent of contract costs that have been incurred and are recoverable.  Contract 
costs are recognised in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The stage of completion of any construction contract is assessed by management by taking 
into consideration all information available at the reporting date.  The Group's construction 
contracts usually define milestones for the project work to be carried out.  

The maximum amount of revenue to be recognised for each milestone is determined by 
estimating relative contract fair values of each project phase; that is by comparing overall 
revenue that the Group expects from its construction contract with the profit expected to be 
made on fulfilling the corresponding milestone.  Progress and related contract revenue in-
between milestones is determined by comparing costs incurred to date with the total 
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estimated costs estimated for that particular milestone (this procedure is sometimes referred 
to as the “cost-to-cost” method).

The gross amount due from customers for contract work is presented as an asset within 
“trade and other receivables'” for all contracts in progress for which costs incurred plus 
recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceeds progress billings.  The gross amount due 
to customers for contract work is presented as a liability within “other liabilities” for all 
contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits.

Interest income
Interest revenue is recognized as the interest accrues, using the effective interest method. NZ IAS 18.30(a)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised on the date the dividend is declared. NZ IAS 18.30(c)

(g) Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the 
date of their origin.  Expenditure for warranties is recognised and charged against the 
associated provision when the related revenue is recognised.

(h) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense when incurred except to the extent that they 
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, in 
which case the borrowing costs are capitalised. 

Finance costs comprise of interest expenses charged on borrowings and the unwinding of 
discounts used to measure the fair value of provisions.

NZ IAS 23.8,12

(i) Profit and loss from discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that either has been disposed of, or is 
classified as held for sale, and:

• represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
• is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business; or 

geographical area of operations; or
• is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

NZ IFRS 5.32

The disclosures for discontinued operations in the prior year relate to all operations that have 
been discontinued by the reporting date for the latest year presented.  Where operations 
previously presented as discontinued are now regarded as continuing operations, prior year 
disclosures are correspondingly re-presented.

NZ IFRS 5.34

(j) Cash and cash equivalents NZ IAS 7.45
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, other NZ IAS 7.46
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short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank 
overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial 
position.

(k) Trade debtors and other receivables NZ IAS 
39.43,46(a)

Trade and other receivables are valued at cost less any impairment losses.

An allowance for impairment is established where there is objective evidence the Parent and 
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivable. 

Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

(l) Assets available for sale
When the Parent or Group intends to sell non-current assets or groups of assets, and if the 
sale is highly probable to be carried out within 12 months, the asset or group of assets is 
classified as "held for sale" and presented as such in the statement of financial position.

NZ IFRS 
5.6,7,15,25

Non-current assets classified as "held for sale" are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amounts, immediately prior to their classification as held for sale and their fair value less costs 
to sell. However, some “held for sale” assets such as financial assets or deferred tax assets 
continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for those assets. 
No assets classified as “held for sale” are subject to depreciation or amortisation subsequent 
to their classification as “held for sale”.

(m) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment losses, except for land. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset.

NZ IAS 
16.13,14,15,30

Additions
The cost replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset 
if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential will flow to the 
Parent and Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised at its cost. Where 
an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date.

All repairs and maintenance expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the year in which the 
expense is incurred.

Disposals
Gains or losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the asset and the difference reported in profit or loss.
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Depreciation
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment over the 
estimated useful life of the asset (except for land). Depreciation is charged to profit or loss and 
disclosed within “overheads and administration” expenses. The following depreciation rates 
have been applied to each class of property, plant and equipment :

NZ IAS 16.73(b)
NZ IAS 16.73(c)

Buildings 25 – 50 years
IT equipment 2 – 5 years
Other equipment 3 – 12 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated remaining life of the improvements, whichever is shorter.  

The residual value and useful life of property, plant and equipment is reassessed annually. NZ IAS 16.51

Revaluations NZ IAS 16.39

Following initial recognition at cost, land assets are carried at re-valued amounts, which is the 
fair value at the date of the revaluation less any accumulated impairment losses. Fair value is 
reported less any costs that would be necessary to sell the assets.

Fair value is determined by reference to market based evidence, which is the amount for 
which the assets could be exchanged between a willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing 
seller in an arm's length transaction as at the valuation date.

Any revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the 
asset revaluation reserve in equity, unless the increase relates to a revaluation decrease of 
the same asset previously recognised in the profit or loss.

NZ IAS16.39

Any revaluation deficit is recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the asset 
revaluation reserve in equity to the extent of the revaluation reserve balance accumulated 
from previous year gains. When no revaluation reserve balance is available to offset a 
revaluation loss the revaluation deficit is reported within profit or loss for the year.

NZ IAS16.40

Revaluations are completed on an asset basis and movements are evaluated on an asset 
class basis.

Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is 
reclassified to retained earnings.

Independent valuations are performed on at least a 2 yearly basis or with sufficient regularity 
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset's fair value at the 
reporting date.

(n) Intangible assets
Indefinite useful lives
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the Group’s interest in the NZ IFRS 3.54
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fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a minority interest in a subsidiary represents the excess 
of the cost of the additional investment over the carrying amount of the net assets acquired at 
the date of exchange.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses; impairment testing is performed on an annual basis.

NZ IAS 36.8

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired by the Parent and Group, which have finite useful lives, are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. 

NZ IAS 38.24,74

Amortisation is recognised on a straight–line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, 
from the date they are available for use and disclosed within “overheads and administration” 
expenses.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and install the specific software. Subsequent expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software, i.e. expenditure relating to patches and 
other minor updates as well as their installation, is expensed as incurred.

The following amortisation rates have been applied to each class of intangible assets:
Software 3 – 5 years
Brand names 15 – 20 years
Customer lists 4 – 6 years

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date.

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new technical 
knowledge and understanding, is recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

NZ IAS 
38.54,57,72

Development activities include a plan or design for the production of new or substantially 
improved products. Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be 
measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future 
economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to 
complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the 
cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing 
the asset for its intended use. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit and loss 
when incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
any impairment losses.

Disposals
Gains or losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the intangible asset and reported in profit or loss.
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(o) Investment Property
Investment property is held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. 
Investment property is measured at fair value with any change therein recognised in profit or 
loss.

NZ IAS 40.75(a)

Fair value is determined annually be external professional valuers with sufficient experience 
with respect to both the location and the nature of investment property and supported by 
market evidence.

NZ IAS 40.75(d)

When the use of investment property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant 
and equipment, its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent 
accounting.

(p) Leased assets
Leases where the Parent and Group assume substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of the leased assets, are classified as finance leases. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

Upon initial recognition finance leased assets are measured at an amount equal to the lower 
of its fair value and the present value of minimum leased payments and a matching liability is 
recognised for minimum lease payment obligations excluding the effective interest expense. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy applicable to the asset.

NZ IAS 17.8,20,25

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease. Associated costs, such as maintenance and 
insurance, are expensed as incurred.

NZ IAS 17.33

(q) Inventory NZ IAS 2.36(a)
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost is calculated on an average basis and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring 
inventories and bringing them to a location and condition available for sale.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, less 
the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses after making due allowance for any 
damaged and obsolete inventory.

Inventory costs include a systematic allocation of appropriate production overheads that relate 
to putting inventories in their present location and condition but exclude borrowing costs. 

NZ IAS 2.9

NZ IAS 2.6

(r) Impairment
At each reporting date, the carrying amounts of tangible and intangible assets are reviewed to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists for an 

NZ IAS 36.6,9,66
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asset, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). 

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful are tested for impairment annually. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds is 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses directly reduce the carrying amount of assets and are 
recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of their fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. Value in use is determined by estimating future cash flows from the use 
and ultimate disposal of the asset and discounting to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market rates and risks specific to the asset. For an asset 
that does not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If a re-valued asset is determined to be impaired, then the impairment is firstly applied against 
the related component of the revaluation reserve, with any remaining impairment loss 
expensed in profit or loss. If the impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversal is 
firstly applied to profit or loss to the extent of previously expensed impairment losses relating 
to that asset, with any further increase taken to the revaluation reserve. For assets which are 
not re-valued, an impairment loss is expensed immediately in profit or loss.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indicators exist, the Parent and Group estimate the asset’s recoverable amount, to measure 
the reversal of any previous year impairment charges. The reversal is limited so that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss. Any impairment of goodwill recognised cannot be subsequently reversed. 

NZ IAS 36.110

(s) Financial instruments NZ IFRS 7

Financial instruments are comprised of trade debtors and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, other financial assets, trade creditors and other payables, borrowings, other 
financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus transaction 
costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured at fair 
value.

Recognition and de-recognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Parent and Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

NZ IAS 39.44

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are 
transferred. 

NZ IAS 39.17
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A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification based on the 
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of financial assets at initial recognition into one of four categories defined below, 
and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

NZ IAS 39.43,45

All financial assets except for those classified as fair value through profit or loss are subject to 
review for impairment at least at each reporting date. Different criteria to determine 
impairment are applied to each category of financial assets, which are described below.

NZ IFRS 7.B5(f)

The category determines subsequent measurement and whether any resulting income and 
expense is recognised in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income.

(i) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.  After initial recognition these are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment.  Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  The 
Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this 
category of financial instruments.

Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past 
due or when other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default.  
Receivables that are not considered to be individually impaired are reviewed for 
impairment in groups, which are determined by reference to the industry and region of a 
counterparty and other shared credit risk characteristics.  The impairment loss estimate 
is then based on recent historical counterparty default rates for each identified group.

NZ IFRS 7.B5(f)

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss NZ IAS 39.9,45

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets that are either 
classified as held for trading or that meet certain conditions and are designated at fair 
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.  All derivative financial instruments 
fall into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, 
for which the hedge accounting requirements apply.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss.  The fair values of non-derivative financial instruments are determined by 
reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no active 
market exists.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity other than loans and receivables.  
Investments are classified as held-to-maturity if the Parent and Group have the intention 
and ability to hold them until maturity.  The Parent and Group currently hold listed bonds 
designated into this category.

NZ IAS 39.9,46(a)

Held-to-maturity investments are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 
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effective interest method.  If there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired, 
determined by reference to external credit ratings, the financial asset is measured at the 
present value of estimated future cash flows.  Any changes to the carrying amount of the 
investment, including impairment losses, are recognised in profit or loss.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either 
designated to this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories 
of financial assets.  The Group's available-for-sale financial assets include listed 
securities and debentures, and certain other equity investments.

NZ IAS 39.9,55(b)

Equity investments are measured at cost less any impairment charges, where the fair 
value cannot currently be estimated reliably. 

All other available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.  Gains and losses 
are recognised in other comprehensive income and reported within the “available-for-
sale reserve” within equity, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange 
differences on monetary assets, which are recognised in profit or loss.  

When the asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired the cumulative gain or 
loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from the equity reserve to 
profit or loss and presented as a reclassification adjustment within other comprehensive 
income.  Any associated interest income or dividends are recognised in profit or loss 
within “finance income”.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, except 
for financial assets that are debt securities which are recognised in profit or loss only if 
the reversal can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for financial liabilities held for trading or designated at fair value through profit 
or loss, that are subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit 
or loss.

Derivative financial instruments NZ IAS 39.46,47
The Parent and Group use derivative financial instruments including forward exchange 
contracts and interest rate swaps for the primary purpose of reducing its exposure to 
fluctuations in foreign currency rates and interest rates.

A specific accounting treatment is required for derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in cash flow hedge relationships.  To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship 
must meet several strict conditions with respect to documentation, probability of occurrence of 
the hedged transaction and hedge effectiveness.  All other derivative financial instruments are 
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.

For the current reporting years, the Parent and Group has designated certain forward 
currency contracts as hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships.  These 
arrangements have been entered into to mitigate currency exchange risk arising from certain 

NZ IFRS 7.22(a)
NZ IFRS 7.22(c)
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legally binding sales and purchase orders denominated in foreign currency.

All derivative financial instruments used for hedge accounting are recognised initially at fair 
value and reported subsequently at fair value in the statement of financial position.

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
included within the “cash flow hedge reserve” in equity.  Any ineffectiveness in the hedge 
relationship is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives, except for those that 
qualify as cash flow hedges, are taken directly to profit or loss for the year.

NZ IAS 39.55(a)

At the time the hedged item affects profit or loss, any gain or loss previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented as a 
reclassification adjustment within other comprehensive income.  However, if a non-financial 
asset or liability is recognised as a result of the hedged transaction, the gains and losses 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are included in the initial measurement 
of the hedged item.

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur or if the hedging instrument becomes 
ineffective, any related gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred 
immediately to profit or loss.

(t) Employee entitlements

Short term benefits
Employee benefits that the Parent and Group expect to be settled within 12 months of 
balance date are measured at nominal value based on accrued entitlements at current rate of 
pays.

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned, but not 
yet taken at balance date, and non-accumulating sick leave.

The Parent and Group recognise a liability for sick leave. The amount is calculated based on 
the unused sick leave entitlements that can be carried forward at balance date, to the extent 
that the Parent and Group anticipates that it will be used by staff to cover those future 
absences.

NZ IAS 19.10,11

The Parent and Group recognises a liability and expense for bonuses where they are 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation.

Long-term benefits
The Parent and Group’s net obligation is respect of long service leave is the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current and prior years. 
The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method and is discounted to its 
present value. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the year in 
which they arise.

NZ IAS 19.128
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Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Parent and 
Group pays fixed contributions into an independent entity.  The Parent and Group have no 
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after its payment of the fixed 
contribution.  The Group contributes to several plans and insurances for individual employees 
that are considered defined contribution plans.  Contributions to the plans are recognised as 
an expense in the year that relevant employee services are received.

Defined benefit plans
Plans that do not meet the definition of a defined contribution plan are defined benefit plans.  
The defined benefit plan sponsored by the Group defines the amount of pension benefit that 
an employee will receive on retirement by reference to length of service and final salary.  The 
legal obligation for any benefits remains with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the
defined benefit plan have been set aside.  Plan assets may include assets specifically 
designated to a long-term benefit fund as well as qualifying insurance policies.

Management estimates the defined benefit obligation annually with the assistance of 
independent actuaries.  The estimate of its post-retirement benefit obligations is based on 
standard rates of inflation, medical cost trends and mortality.  It also takes into account the 
Group's specific anticipation of future salary increases.  Discount factors are determined close 
to each year-end by reference to high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the 
currency in which the benefits will be paid and have terms to maturity approximating to the 
terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are not recognised as an expense unless the total unrecognised 
gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the obligation and related plan assets.  The 
amount exceeding this 10% corridor is charged or credited to profit or loss over the 
employees' expected average remaining working lives.  Actuarial gains and losses within the 
10% corridor are disclosed separately.  Past service costs are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees 
remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past 
service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

NZ IAS 19.120A(a)

Interest expenses related to pension obligations are included in “finance costs” in profit or 
loss.  Return on plan assets is included in 'other financial items'.  All other post employment 
benefit expenses are included in “employee benefits expense”.

Share-based payment transactions NZ IFRS 2

The Parent and Group operate equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its 
employees.  None of the Parent and Group plans feature any options for a cash settlement.

All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are 
measured at their fair values.  Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, 
the fair values of employees' services are determined indirectly by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments granted.  This fair value is appraised at the grant date and excludes 
the impact of non-market vesting conditions.

The grant-date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised 
as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the 
employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards.
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If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting 
period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest.  
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that 
are expected to become exercisable.  Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any 
indication that the number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates.  
Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting is recognised in the current period.  No adjustment 
is made to any expense recognised in prior periods if share options ultimately exercised are 
different to that estimated on vesting.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs up, are allocated to share capital.

(u) Provisions
A provision is recognised for a liability when the settlement amount or timing is uncertain; 
when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is 
probable that expenditures will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate of 
the potential settlement can be made. Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by 
the Parent and Group from a contract are lower that the unavoidable cost of meeting its 
obligation under the contract.

NZ IAS 
37.14,24,63

Restructuring provisions are recognised only if a detailed formal plan for the restructuring has 
been developed and implemented, or management has at least announced the plan's main 
features to those affected by it.  

NZ IAS 37.71

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the 
risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Provisions are discounted to 
their present values, where the time value of money is material.  

NZ IAS 
37.36,45,47

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate.

(v) Goods and services tax (GST)
All amounts in these financial statements are shown exclusive of GST, except for receivables 
and payables that are stated inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department 
(IRD) is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

(w) Income taxes NZ IAS 12

The income tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax 
movements and current tax not recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
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equity.

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable based on the taxable surplus for the current 
year, plus any adjustment to income tax payable in respect of prior years. Current tax is 
calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted at 
the reporting date.

Deferred tax is the amount of income tax payable or recoverable in future years in respect of 
temporary differences and unused tax losses (if any). Temporary differences are differences 
between the carrying amount of asset and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax bases used in the consumption of taxable surpluses.

Deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of goodwill or on the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability, unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects the tax 
or accounting profit.  Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and joint ventures is not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can 
be controlled by the Group and it is probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable 
future.

NZ IAS 12.15

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable surpluses will 
be available in future years, against which the deductible temporary differences or tax losses 
can be utilised. 

NZ IAS 12.24

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is 
realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Parent and Group expects to 
recover the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  

NZ IAS 12.74

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Parent and Group has a right and 
intention to set off current tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of income tax in 
profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

NZ IAS 12.61A
NZ IAS 1.117

(x) Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, 
adjusted for own shares held. 

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shareholders outstanding, 
adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which 
comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees.

NZ IAS 33.10.31

(y) Share capital and other equity reserves
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. Any transaction 
costs associated with the issuing of shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of 

NZ IAS 1.79(b)



Grant Thornton Holdings (NZ) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2011

42

any related income tax benefits.

The revaluation reserve within equity comprises gains and losses due to the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment.  Foreign currency translation differences arising on the 
translation of the Group's foreign entities are included in the translation reserve.  Gains and 
losses on certain financial instruments are included in reserves for available-for-sale financial 
assets and cash-flow hedges respectively.

Retained earnings include all current and prior year retained profits or losses.
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Commentary – Disclosure of accounting policies
1. Only the accounting policies and changes in accounting policies that are applicable to the 

reporting entity require disclosure. 

2. Entities with investment properties carried at fair value should consider the merits of adopting 
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (amendments to IAS 12) early. The standard was issued in 
February 2011 and is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 and 
early adoption is permitted.

The amendment introduces a rebuttable assumption that the measurement of deferred of 
deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties measured at fair 
value should reflect the tax consequences of recovering the amount entirely through sale. The 
deferred tax asset or liability is therefore limited to the tax consequences of sale of investment 
properties and where no capital gains tax is applicable; the deferred tax balance will be limited to 
depreciation recovered. 

The adoption of this amendment in the 2011 year will, for entities that own investment 
properties, significantly decrease the deferred tax impact for many entities, as a result of the 2010 
Government Budget announcements removing depreciation deduction on long-lived buildings.  

The amendment requires retrospective adoption and therefore when first adopted a third balance 
sheet will require presentation.
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4 Significant management judgements and estimates in applying 
accounting policies

NZ IAS 1.22
NZ IAS 1.125

When preparing the financial statements management undertakes a number of 
judgements, estimates and assumption that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Where 
material, information on significant assumptions and estimates is provided below or in 
the relevant accounting policy with additional analysis in the relevant note.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The 
actual results may differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions made by 
management, and will seldom equal the estimated results.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is 
revised and in any future years affected.

The following are significant management judgements in applying the accounting 
policies of the Parent and Group that have a significant effect on the financial 
statements:

Impairment
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's or cash-
generating unit's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  To determine the 
recoverable amount, management estimates expected future cash flows from each 
cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the 
present value of those cash flows.  In the process of measuring expected future cash 
flows management makes assumptions about future operating results.  These 
assumptions relate to future events and circumstances.  

In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the 
appropriate adjustment to market risk and the appropriate adjustment to asset-specific 
risk factors.

Revenue
The Parent and Group commit to extensive after-sales support in their service 
contracts.  The amount of the selling price associated with the subsequent servicing 
agreement is deferred and recognised as revenue over the period during which the 
service is performed.  The nature of services provided depends on the customer’s use 
of the products.  Therefore management exercises significant judgement in 
determining when to recognise income from after-sales services.  In particular, this 
considers historical experience and requires knowledge of the customers and the 
markets in which the Parent and Group operates.

Construction contract revenue
The stage of completion of any construction contract is assessed by management by 
taking into consideration all information available at the reporting date.  In this process 
management exercises significant judgement about milestones, actual work 
performed and the estimated costs to complete the work. Management assesses the 
profitability of ongoing construction contracts and the order backlog at least monthly, 
using extensive project management procedures.
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Internally generated software and research costs
Management monitors progress of internal research and development projects by 
using a project management system.  Significant judgement is required in 
distinguishing research from the development phase.  

To distinguish any research-type project phase from the development phase, it is the 
Parent and Group's accounting policy to require a detailed forecast of sales or cost 
savings expected to be generated by the intangible asset.  The forecast is 
incorporated into the Parent and Group's overall budget forecast as the capitalisation 
of development costs commences.  This ensures that managerial accounting, 
impairment testing procedures and accounting for internally-generated intangible 
assets are based on the same data.

Deferred tax assets
The assessment of the probability of future taxable income in which deferred tax 
assets can be utilised is based on the Parent and Group's latest approved budget 
forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and 
specific limits to the use of any unused tax losses or credits.  If a positive forecast of 
taxable income indicates the probable use of a deferred tax asset, especially when it 
can be utilised without a time limit, that deferred tax asset is usually recognised in full. 

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  In estimating 
net realisable values, management takes into account the most reliable evidence 
available at the times the estimates are made.  The Patent and Group's core business 
is subject to technology changes which may cause selling prices to change rapidly.  
Moreover, future realisation of the carrying amounts of inventory assets is affected by 
price changes in different market segments.

Fair value of financial instruments
Management uses valuation techniques in measuring the fair value of financial 
instruments where active market quotes are not available. In applying the valuation 
techniques management makes maximum use of market inputs, and uses estimates 
and assumptions that are, as far as possible, consistent with observable data that 
market participants would use in pricing the instrument.  Where applicable data is not 
observable, management uses its best estimate about the assumptions that market 
participants would make.  

Provisions
The Parent and Group are currently defending certain lawsuits where the actual 
outcome may vary from the amount recognised in the financial statements.  None of 
the provisions will be discussed here in further detail so as not to seriously prejudice 
the Parent and Group's position in the related disputes.

The amount recognised for warranties for which customers are covered for the cost of 
repairs is estimated based on management's past experience and the future 
expectations of defects.
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Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries

Acquisition of Good Tech Limited
On 30 September 2010, the Group acquired 100% of the equity instruments of Good Tech
Limited (Good Tech), a Sydney based business, thereby obtaining control.  The acquisition 
was made to enhance the Group's position in the retail market for computer and 
telecommunications hardware in Australia. Good Tech is a significant business in the 
Group's targeted market.

NZ IFRS 3.B64 
(a) – (d)

The total cost of acquisition includes the following components:
2011

Fair value of consideration paid $000 NZ IFRS 3.B64 (f)

Amount settled in cash 16,058 NZ IFRS 3.B64 (f)(i)

Fair value of contingent consideration 600 NZ IFRS 3.B64(f)(iii)

Total 16,658 NZ IAS 7.40(a)

Defined benefit liability
Management estimates the defined benefit liability annually with the assistance of 
independent actuaries; however, the actual outcome may vary due to estimation 
uncertainties.  The defined benefit liability is based on standard rates of inflation, 
medical cost trends and mortality.  It also takes into account the Group's anticipation 
of future salary increases.  Discount factors are determined close to each year-end by 
reference to high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in 
which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the 
terms of the related pension liability.  Estimation uncertainties exist particularly with 
regard to medical cost trends, which may vary significantly in future appraisals of the
Group's defined benefit obligations.

5 Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent and 
its subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Equity interest Investment at costCountry of 
Incorporation 2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000
Grant Thornton Example 
Securities Limited 

New Zealand 100% 100% 2,500 2,500

Goodtech Limited Australia 100% - 16,658 -
Goodbuy Incorporated United States 100% 100% 12,421 12,421
High Street Limited New Zealand - 100% - 3,500

31,579 18,421

All investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost in the financial statements of the Parent 
and eliminated on consolidation.
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The allocation of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities of Good Tech was 
completed in 2011. The amounts recognised at the acquisition date for each class of the 
acquiree’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are as follows:

Identifiable net assets recognised NZ IFRS 3.B64(i)

Inventories 8,995 NZ IAS 7.40(d)

Trade and other receivables 7,792
Cash and cash equivalents 567
Property, plant and equipment 4,622
Intangible assets 5,255
Investments accounted for using the equity method 345
Investment property 75
Total assets 27,651

Provisions 1,320
Trade creditors and other payables 5,689
Other current liabilities 2,312
Borrowings 3,478
Deferred tax liabilities 632
Total liabilities 13,431

Net identifiable net assets acquired at fair value 14,220

Goodwill recognised on acquisition 2,438

Consideration transferred settled in cash 16,058 NZ IAS 7.40(b)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired (567) NZ IAS 7.40(c)

Net cash outflow on acquisition 15,491 NZ IAS 7.42

Acquisition costs charged to expenses 223
Net cash paid relating to acquisition 15,714

Consideration transferred
The acquisition of Good Tech was settled in cash of $16,058,000. NZ IFRS 3.B64(f)(i)

The purchase agreement included an additional consideration of $3,100,000 payable only 
if the average profits of Good Tech for 2011 and 2012 exceed a target level agreed by 
both parties.  The additional consideration will be paid on 1 October 2012.  The $600,000 
fair value of the contingent consideration liability initially recognised represents the present 
value of the Group's probability-weighted estimate of the cash outflow.  It reflects 
management's estimate of a 50% probability that the targets will be achieved and is 
discounted using an interest rate of 4.4%.2 As at 30 June 2011, there have been no 
changes in the estimate of the probable cash outflow but the liability has increased to 
$620,000 due to the unwinding of the discount.

NZ IFRS 3.B64(g)(i-iii)
NZ IFRS 3.B67(b)(i-iii)
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Acquisition-related costs amounting to $223,000 are not included as part of consideration 
transferred and have been recognised as an expense in Group profit or loss, as part of 
“other expenses”.

NZ IFRS 3.B64 (m)

Identifiable net assets
The fair value of the trade and other receivables acquired as part of the business 
combination amounted to $7,792,000, with a gross contractual amount of $7,867,000.  As 
of the acquisition date, the Group's best estimate of the contractual cash flow not expected 
to be collected amounted to $75,000.

NZ IFRS 3.B64 (h)(i-iii)

Goodwill
Goodwill of $2,438,000 is primarily related to growth expectations, expected future 
profitability, the substantial skill and expertise of Good Tech's workforce and expected cost 
synergies.  Goodwill has been allocated to cash-generating units at 30 June 2011. The 
goodwill that arose from this business combination is not expected to be deductible for tax 
purposes.

NZ IAS 3.67(e)
NZ IAS 36.133

NZ IFRS 3.B64(k)

Contribution to the Group results
Good Tech incurred a loss of $20,000 for the 10 months from 30 September 2010 to the 
reporting date, primarily due to integration costs.

If Good Tech had been acquired on 1 July 2010, revenue of the Group for 2011 would 
have been approximately $212 million, and profit for the year would have increased by 
approximately $350,000.

NZ IFRS 3.B64(q(i-ii))

Acquisition of Good Buy Inc
On 31 July 2009, the Group acquired 100% of the equity instruments of Good Buy Inc. 
(Good Buy), a Delaware (USA) based business. The acquisition of Good Buy was made to 
enhance the Group's position as a retailer for computer and telecommunications hardware 
in the US market.

NZ IFRS 3.66
NZ IFRS 3.B64 

(a) – (d)

The total cost of acquisition includes the following components:
2010

Fair value of consideration paid $000 NZ IFRS 3.B64 (f)

Amount settled in cash 12,421 NZ IFRS 3.B64 (f)(i)

Fair value of contingent consideration - NZ IFRS 3.B64(f)(iii)

Total 12,421 NZ IAS 7.40(a)
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The allocation of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities of Good Buy was 
completed in 2010. The amounts recognised at the acquisition date for each class of the 
acquiree’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are as follows:

Identifiable net assets recognised NZ IFRS 3.B64(i)

Inventories 5,469 NZ IAS 7.40(d)

Trade and other receivables 5,200
Cash and cash equivalents 345 NZ IAS 7.40(c)

Property, plant and equipment 3,148
Intangible assets 3,005
Total assets 17,167

Provisions and contingent liabilities 1,234
Trade creditors and other payables 4,989
Other current liabilities 657
Deferred tax liabilities 435
Total liabilities 7,315

Net identifiable net assets acquired at fair value 9,852

Goodwill recognised on acquisition 2,569

Consideration transferred settled in cash 12,421 NZ IAS 7.40(b)

Less cash and cash equivalents acquired (345) NZ IAS 7.40(c)

Net cash outflow on acquisition 12,076 NZ IAS 7.42

Acquisition costs charged to expenses 76
Net cash paid relating to acquisition 12,152

Acquisition-related costs amounting to $76,000 are not included as part of consideration 
transferred and have been recognised as an expense in the Group profit or loss, as part of 
“other expenses”.

NZ IFRS 3.B64 (m)

Goodwill
A significant part of the acquisition costs can be attributed to the sales force and the sales 
know-how of key personnel of Good Buy.  At the acquisition date however, no intangible 
asset qualified for separate recognition in this respect.  These circumstances contributed 
to the amount recognised as goodwill. All goodwill arising on the business combination had 
been allocated to cash-generating units by 30 June 2010.

NZ IFRS 3.B64 (e)
NZ IAS 36.133

Contribution to the Group results
Good Buy contributed $400,000 to the consolidated profit for the 11 months from 1 August 
2009 to 20 June 2010.  If Good Buy had been acquired on 1 July 2009, revenue of the 
Group for 2010 would have increased by $196 million.  

NZ IFRS 3.B64(q(i-ii))
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Disposal of Highstreet Limited
On 31 December 2010, the Group disposed of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, 
Highstreet Limited.  The subsidiary was classified as held for sale in the 2010 year-end 
financial statements.

The carrying amount of the net assets of Highstreet Limited recognised at the date of 
disposal (31 December 2010) were as follows:

NZ IAS 7.40(d)

2011
$000

Cash and cash equivalents - NZ IAS 7.40(c)
Inventories 1,121
Property, plant and equipment 2,475
Trade creditors and other payables (210)
Provisions (232)
Borrowings (8)
Total net assets 3,146

Total consideration received in cash 3,117 NZ IAS 7.40(a)

Loss taken to profit or loss 29

6 Jointly controlled entities
Halftime Limited is the only jointly controlled entity within the Group and the 
ownership percentage is 50%.  Its financial statements have been incorporated 
into the consolidated financial statements using the proportionate consolidation 
method.  

NZ IAS 31.56

The aggregate amounts relating to Halftime Limited at year-end are as follows:
Parent and Group

2010
$000

2009
$000

Current assets 310 190
Non-current asset 300 250
Current liabilities (150) (125)
Non-current liabilities (50) (40)
Net assets of joint venture 410 275

Income 400 389
Expenses (320) (321)
Net profit/ (loss) of joint venture for the year 80 68

The Parent and Group have not incurred any contingent liabilities or other commitments 
relating to its joint venture.

NZ IAS 31.54
NZ IAS 31.55

7 Investments in Associates
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Investment details
Carrying amount
Parent & Group

Associate Equity holding 2011
$000

2010
$000

Equip Consultants Example Limited 25% (2010: 25%) 65 23
Shopmore Example Limited 30% (2010: 0%) 365 -
Total investment in associates 430 23

Equipe Consultants Example Limited provides support to the Group's consulting activities.  

As from 30 September 2010 the Group holds a 30% voting and equity interest in 
Shopmore Example Limited, acquired through acquisition of Goodtech (Group subsidiary).  

The investments are accounted for under the equity method.  Both associates have a 30 
June reporting date.

NZ IAS 28.37(e)

The shares are not publicly listed on a public stock exchange and hence published price 
quotes are not available.  NZ IAS 28.37(a)

Movement of investment in associates
2011
$000

2010
$000

Opening balance 1 July 23 11
Share of associates profits for the year 60 12
Share of associates other comprehensive income 2 -
Acquisition of equity interest in associate (note 5) 345 -
Closing carrying value of associate investments 430 23

Summarised financial information of associates
The following represents summarised financial information relating to the Parent and 
Group’s associates: 

2011
$000

2010
$000

Assets 1,175 118 NZ IAS 28.37(b)

Liabilities (812) (95)
Net assets of associates 363 23

Revenues 428 140
Profit/(loss) of associates for the year 240 52
Other comprehensive income for the year 8 -
Total comprehensive income of Associates for year 249 52

Parent and Group share of Associate total comprehensive income
Net Profit 60 12
Other comprehensive income 2 -
Total comprehensive income of associate recognised 62 12

Dividends are subject to the approval of at least 51% of all shareholders of the associates.  NZ IAS28.37(f)
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During 2010 and 2011 the Patent and Group received no dividends from Associates.

The Parent and Group have not incurred any contingent liabilities or other commitments 
relating to its investments in associates.

NZ IAS28.40
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8 Segment reporting
Management currently identifies the Group's three service lines as operating 
segments. These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made 
on the basis of adjusted segment operating results.

NZ IFRS 8.22(a)

In addition, two minor operating segments, for which the quantitative thresholds have 
not been met, are currently combined below under “other”.  The main source of 
revenue from other operating segments is sale and disposal of used IT equipment that 
the Group collects from its customers.

NZ IFRS 8.16

Summarised segment information used by management: 
Group 2011 Consulting Service Retail Other Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Revenue
From external customers 110,810 18,140 72,098 4,079 205,127 NZ IFRS 8.23 (a)

Discontinued operations - - 9,803 - 9,803
Other revenue 231 - - - 231 NZ IFRS 8.23 (b)

Segment revenues 111,041 18,140 81,901 4,079 215,161

Expenses
Cost of goods sold 22,162 5,442 25,169 1,397 54,170 NZ IFRS 8.23 (f)

Employee benefits expense 54,224 10,863 46,359 2,447 113,893
Depreciation and amortisation 3,388 555 2,205 125 6,273 NZ IFRS 8.23 (e)

Impairment expense 1,669 - - - 1,669 NZ IAS 36.129(a)

Other expenses 9,446 30 1,333 10 10,819
Segment expenses 90,889 16,890 75,066 3,979 186,824

Segment operating profit 20,152 1,250 6,835 100 28,337 NZ IFRS 8.23

Segment assets 69,103 11,149 43,311 2,507 126,070 NZ IFRS 8.23

Segment operating cash flows 15,148 2,525 9,818 561 28,052

Group 2010 Consulting Service Retail Other Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue
From external customers 109,302 17,832 59,310 4,121 190,565 NZ IFRS 8.23 (a)

Discontinued operations 11,015 11,015
From other segments 110 - - - 110 NZ IFRS 8.23 (b)

Segment revenues 109,412 17,832 70,325 4,121 201,690

Expenses
Cost of goods sold 21,860 5,350 21,426 1,319 49,955 NZ IFRS 8.23 (f)

Employee benefits expense 56,277 10,498 38,997 - 105,772
Depreciation and amortisation 3,585 587 2,332 132 6,636 NZ IFRS 8.23 (e)

Impairment expense 190 - - - 190 NZ IAS 36.129(a)

Other expenses 9,203 100 1,761 2,493 13,557
Segment expenses 91,115 16,535 64,516 3,944 176,110

Segment operating profit 18,297 1,297 5,809 177 25,580 NZ IFRS 8.23

Segment assets 51,615 8,450 33,583 1,900 95,548 NZ IFRS 8.23

Segment operating cash flows 11,680 1,947 7,571 433 21,631
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Segment reporting (continued)
The Group's revenues from external customers and its non-current assets (other than 
financial instruments, investments accounted for using the equity method, deferred tax assets 
and post-employment benefit assets) are divided into the following geographical areas:

2011 2010
Group Revenue Non-

current 
assets

Revenue Non-
current 
assets

NZ IFRS 8.33(a)
NZ IFRS 8.33(b)

New Zealand 164,102 46,053 152,452 40,242
Australia 20,513 5,757 19,057 5,030
United Kingdom 18,461 5,181 17,151 4,527
Other 2,051 575 1,905 503
Total 205,127 57,566 190,565 50,302

Revenues from external customers have been identified on the basis of the customer's 
geographical location.  Non-current assets are allocated based on their physical location.  The 
above table does not include discontinued operations (disposal groups), for which revenue 
and assets can be attributed to New Zealand.

NZ IFRS 8.33(a)

During 2011, $24,744,000 or 12% of the Group’s revenues depended on a single customer in 
the consulting segment (2010: $21,076,000 or 11%).

NZ IFRS 8.34

Reconciliation of segment revenues 
The totals presented for the Group's operating segments reconcile to the key financial figures 
as presented in its financial statements as follows:

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Revenue NZ IFRS 8.28(a)

Total reported segment revenue 215,161 201,690
Rental income from investment property 1,066 1,028
Discontinued operations (9,803) (11,015)
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (231) (110)
Group revenue 206,193 191,593

Profit and loss NZ IFRS 8.28(b)

Total segment operating profit 28,337 25,580
Other segment profit 100 177
Rental income 1,066 1,028
Change in fair value of investment property 310 175
Share-based payment expenses (298) (466)
Post-employment benefit expense (6,099) (6,373)
Research and development costs (1,690) (1,015)
Other income not allocated 427 641
Other expenses not allocated (303) (286)
Operating profit of discontinued operations (73) (106)
Elimination of inter-segment profits (469) (379)
Group operating profit 21,309 18,976
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Segment reporting (continued)
Group operating profit 21,309 18,976

Share of profits from equity accounted investments 60 12
Finance costs (3,473) (3,594)
Finance income 994 793
Other financial items 3,388 3,599
Change in fair value if investment property 310 175
Group profit before tax 22,588 19,961

Reconciliation of segment assets
Group

2011
$000

2010
$000

NZ IFRS 8.28(c)

Total reported segment assets 126,070 95,548
Group headquarters 3,967 2,073
Investment property 12,662 12,277
Illustrative research lab 5,101 2,665
Other assets 3,401 1,777
Consolidation entries (1,134) (592)
Group assets 150,067 113,748

Unallocated operating income and expense mainly consist of research expenditure as well as 
post-employment benefits expenses.  The Group's headquarters, its investment properties 
and its main research facility, Grant Thornton Holdings Research Lab, are considered 
corporate assets and are not allocated to any segment's assets.

NZ IFRS 8.28

9 Revenue
The reported revenue has been analysed into major product and service categories as follows 
(excluding revenue from discontinued operations):

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Sale of hardware 47,585 39,145 11,896 9,786
Sale of software 24,513 20,165 6,128 5,041
Other 4,079 4,121 1,020 1,030
Total sale of goods 76,177 63,431 19,044 15,857 NZ IAS 18.35(b)

After-sales service and maintenance 18,140 17,832 4,535 4,473
Consulting 59,837 60,116 14,959 15,029
Construction contracts 50,973 49,186 12,743 12,297 NZ IAS 11.39(a)

Rental income 1,066 1,028 266 242 NZ IAS 40.75(f)

Total rendering of services 130,016 128,162 32,504 32,041 NZ IAS 18.35(b)(ii)

Total revenue 206,193 191,563 51,548 47,898
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10 Expenses
The following amounts were expensed in profit or loss for the year. 

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Items expensed within the operating 
profit include:
Directors fees3 120 120 118 118
Donations 10 9 10 90 NZ IAS 1.NZ105.2

Operating lease payments 3,568 3,398 - - NZ IAS 17.35(c)

Net loss on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment - - - - NZ IAS 1.98(c)
Impairment of trade receivables 72 514 18 129
Inventory purchases 361,000 389,000 90,250 97,250 NZ IAS 2.36(d)

Inventory write downs 35,626 33,296 8,907 8,324 NZ IAS 2.36(e)

Auditors Remuneration
Fees charged by Grant Thornton
Financial statement audit 315 274 79 69

NZ IAS 
1.NZ105.1(a)(i)

Other audit related services - - - -
Taxation compliance services 25 24 6 6

NZ IAS 
1.NZ105.1(a)(ii)

Due diligence services 73 85 18 21
Other non-audit services - - - - 1.NZ105.1(b)

Total 413 383 10c3 96

Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment of non-financial assets
Impairment of goodwill 799 190 - - NZ IAS 36.126(a)

Impairment of other intangibles 870 - 218 - NZ IAS 38.118(e)

Impairment of financial assets - - - -
Impairment of non-financial assets - - - -
Amortisation of intangibles 3,528 3,051 882 763 NZ IAS 38.118(e)

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 2,745 3,585 686 896 NZ IAS 1.104
Total 7,942 6,826 1,786 1,659

Employee benefit expenses
Wages and salaries 107,793 101,834 26,948 25,456 NZ IAS 19.142

Redundancy payments - - - -
Defined contribution plan expense 4,491 4,243 1,122 1,062 NZ IAS 19.46

Defined benefit plan expense 1,608 2,130 402 533 NZ 19.120A(g)

Share based payment expense 298 466 75 116 NZ IFRS 2.51(a)

Other employee benefit expense - - - -
Total 114,190 108,673 28,547 27,167
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11 Finance income and costs

Finance costs Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Interest on finance leases 220 230 - -
Borrowings at amortised cost

Subordinated shareholder loan 200 200 - -
Other borrowings 595 555 - -

Total interest expense for borrowings 1,015 985 - - NZ IFRS 7.20(b)

Less interest expense capitalised (80) (78) - - NZ IAS 23.26(a)

935 907 - -

Defined benefit obligation interest expense 2,488 2,267 - - NZ IAS 19.120A(g)

Unwinding of discount on contingent 
consideration 20 - - -
Loss on foreign currency financial liability 
designated at fair value through profit and 
loss 30 70 - -

NZ IFRS 7.20(a)(i)

Fair value losses on forward exchange 
contracts held for trading - - - -

NZ IFRS 7.20(a)(i)

Impairment of available for sale financial 
assets - 350 - 87
Total finance costs 3,473 3,594 - 87

The borrowing costs have been capitalised in relation to qualifying assets at a rate of 4.4% 
per annum (2010: 4.5%). NZ IFRS 23.26(b)

The loss on foreign currency financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 
takes account of interest payments on these loans. NZ IFRS 7.B5(e)

Finance income Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Interest income on interest bearing 
financial assets carried at amortised 
cost 752 447 188 112 NZ IFRS 7.20(b)
Dividends from available for sale 
financial assets 62 21 16 6 NZ IAS 18.35(b)(v)
Net gain on disposal of available-for-
sale financial assets transferred from 
equity 50 - 13 - NZ IFRS 7.20(a)(ii)
Fair value gains on forward exchange 
contracts held-for-trading 130 325 32 81 NZ IFRS 7.20(a)(i)
Gain on foreign currency financial 
liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss - - - - NZ IFRS 7.20(a)(i)
Total finance income 994 793 249 199
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12 Other financial asset movements
Group Parent

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Gain/(loss) from financial assets at fair 
value through profit and loss 6 18 2 5 NZ IFRS 7.20(a)(i)
Gain/(loss) from exchange differences on 
loans and receivables 937 1,164 234 290 NZ IAS 21.52(a)
Return on retirement benefit plan assets 2,445 2,417 611 605 NZ IFRS 7.20(a)(iv)
Total other financial asset movements 3,388 3,599 847 900

13 Income tax expense

Components of income tax expense
Group Parent NZ IAS 12.80

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Current tax expense 5,832 5,192 1,458 1,298 NZ IAS 12.80(a)

Prior year tax adjustment - - - -
Deferred tax movement

– utilisation of unused tax losses 75 225 18 56 NZ IAS 12.80

– temporary differences 1,310 862 328 216 NZ IAS 12.80(c)

Total income tax expense 7,217 6,279 1,804 1,570

Less: Income tax taken to other 
comprehensive income (85) (95) (21) (24)
Income tax profit and loss 7,132 6,184 1,783 1,546

Note 15 provide detail of deferred tax asset and liability movements for the year.

Reconciliation of the effective tax rate
The relationship between the expected tax expense based on the domestic effective tax rate 
of the Parent and Group at 28% (2010: 30%) and the reported tax expense in profit or loss is 
provided as follows:

NZ IAS 12.81(c)(i)

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Profit before tax 22,588 19,961 19,233 4,989
Company’s domestic income  tax rate 28% 30% 28% 30% NZ IAS 12.85

Expected tax expense 6,325 5,988 5,385 1,497

Foreign tax rate adjustment 16 18 - - NZ IAS 12.84

Adjustment for tax exempt income (36) (10) - - NZ IAS 12.84

Adjustment for non-deductible 
expenses 827 188 (3,602) 49

NZ IAS 12.84

Actual income tax expense 7,132 6,184 1,783 1,546

14 Income tax on components of other comprehensive income movements NZ IAS 1.90
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Group 2011 2010

Before 
tax

Tax 
benefit/ 

(expense)
Net of 

tax
Before 

tax
Tax benefit/ 

(expense)
Net of 

tax
Revaluation of land 303 (91) 212 - - -
Cash flow hedges 629 - 629 (472) - (472)
Available-for-sale financial 
assets 63 - 63 35 - 35
Translation of foreign 
operations (664) 176 (488) (341) 95 (246)
Other comprehensive income 331 85 416 (778) 95 (683)

Parent 2011 2010
Before 

tax
Tax benefit 

(expense)
Net of 

tax
Before 

tax
Tax benefit 

(expense)
Net of 

tax
Revaluation of land 76 (23) 53 - - -
Cash flow hedges 157 - 157 (118) - (118)
Available-for-sale financial 
assets 15 - 15 9 - 9
Translation of foreign 
operations (166) 44 (122) (85) 24 (61)
Other comprehensive income 82 21 103 (194) 24 (170)

15 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets/ (liabilities)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities disclosed in the statement of financial position are a 
combination of deferred tax on unused tax losses and deferred tax on temporary differences. 

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Deferred tax on unused tax losses
Opening balance 75 300 19 75
Tax losses utilised in current year (75) (225) (19) (56)
Closing asset/ (liability) balance - 75 - 19

Deferred tax on temporary differences
Opening balance (3,625) (2,444) (876) (708)

Impact of depreciation no longer deductible 
on long-lived buildings (1,250) - - -
Impact of change in income tax rate 328 - - -
Other temporary difference movements (850) (1,181) (286) (168)
Total temporary difference movement for year (1,772) (1,181) (286) (168)

Closing asset/ (liability) balance (5,397) (3,625) (1,162) (876)

Closing deferred tax asset/ (liability) (5,397) (3,550) (1,162) (857)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)
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Represented in the statement of financial position as:
Deferred tax assets - 75 - 19
Deferred tax liabilities (5,397) (3,625) (1,162) (876)
Net Balance (5,397) (3,550) (1,162) 857

Deferred tax on unused tax losses is carried when management consider it probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses will be utilised.

A deferred tax liability of $1,000 (2010:$2,000) associated with an investment in a domestic 
subsidiary has not been recognised, as the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  The tax 
value is equivalent to a temporary difference of $3,000 (2010:$7,000).

NZ IAS 12.81(f)

Reconciliation of temporary differences NZ IAS 12.81(g)

Deferred tax arising from temporary differences can be summarised as follows:

Group 2011
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P&
L

Closing 
balance

Trade debtors and other receivables 168 - - (38) 130
Property, plant and equipment (2,130) 22 (188) (406) (2,702)
Investment property (1,914) - (93) (2,007)
Intangible assets (847) 63 (444) (30) (1,258)
Other financial assets 95 - - (19) 76
Provisions 1,003 - - (639) 364
Deferred tax temporary asset/(liability) (3,625) 85 (632) (1,225) (5,397)

Group 2010
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P&
L

Closing 
balance

Trade debtors and other receivables 34 - - - 134 168
Property, plant and equipment (1,528) 68 (225) - (445) (2,130)
Investment property (1,861) - - - (53) (1,914)
Intangible assets (409) 27 (210) - (255) (847)
Other financial assets - - - 95 95
Provisions 1,320 - - (74) (243) 1,003
Deferred tax temporary asset/(liability) (2,444) 95 (435) (74) (767) (3,625)
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)
Reconciliation of temporary differences

Parent 2011
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L

Closing 
balance

Trade debtors and other receivables (21) - (10) (31)
Property, plant and equipment (476) 5 (262) (733)
Investment property (243) - (23) (266)
Intangible assets (159) 16 (8) (151)
Other financial assets 24 - (5) 19
Deferred tax temporary asset/(liability) (876) 21 (307) (1,162)

Parent 2010
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Closing 
balance

Trade debtors and other receivables 6 - (27) (21)
Property, plant and equipment (382) 17 (111) (476)
Investment property (230) - (13) (243)
Intangible assets (102) 7 (64) (159)
Other financial assets - - 24 24
Deferred tax temporary asset/(liability) (708) 24 (192) (876)

16 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Cash at bank and in hand 27,831 8,987 6,958 2,247 NZ IAS 7.45

Short-term deposits 6,958 2,250 1,740 562
Total cash and cash equivalents 34,789 11,237 8,698 2,809

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates on daily deposit balances.

Short term deposits are made for varying periods of between one to three months depending 
of the immediate cash requirements of the Parent and Group, and earn interest at respective 
short-term deposit rates.
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17 Trade debtors and other receivables

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Trade debtors 31,265 23,889 7,816 5,972 NZ IAS 1.77

Related party debtors - - - -
Less allowance for doubtful debts (432) (560) (108) (140) NZ IAS 1.78(b)

30,833 23,329 7,708 5,832
Receivables from associates 112 112 28 28
Construction contracts 1,374 974 - -
Other receivables 1,012 898 597 468
Prepayments 298 315 74 79
Total trade debtors and other receivables 33,629 25,628 8,407 6,407

Trade debtors and other receivables are non-interest bearing and receipts is normally on 30-
day terms. Therefore the carrying value of trade debtors and other receivables approximates 
its fair value.

NZ IFRS 7.25

As at 30 June 2011 and 2010, all overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment 
and appropriate allowances made. All receivables are subject to credit risk exposure.

NZ IFRS 7.37(b)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful is as follows: NZ IFRS 7.16

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Balance 1 July 560 112 140 28
Amounts written off (200) (66) (50) (17)
Impairment losses 72 514 18 129
Impairment loss reversed - - - -
Balance 30 June 432 560 108 140

As at 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is detailed as follows: NZ IFRS 7.37(a)

Group 2011 2010
Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net

0- 30 days (not past due) 30,810 - 30,810 23,401 (72) 23,329

31 - 60 days 121 (98) 23 132 (132) -
61 - 90 days 158 (158) - 167 (167) -
Greater than 90 days 176 (176) - 189 (189) -
Total past due 455 (432) 23 488 (488) -

Total of trade debtors 31,265 (432) 30,833 23,889 (560) 23,329
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Trade debtors and other receivables (continued)

As at 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is detailed as follows:

Parent 2011 2010
Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net

0- 30 days (not past due) 7,702 - 7,702 5,832 (5) 5,827

31 - 60 days 34 (28) 6 28 (28) -
61 - 90 days 28 (28) - 40 (40) -
Greater than 90 days 52 (52) - 67 (67) -
Total past due 114 (108) 6 135 (135) -

Total of trade debtors 7,816 (108) 7,708 5,967 (140) 5,827

The carrying amount of receivables whose terms have been renegotiated, that would otherwise 
be past due or impaired is nil (2010:$Nil).

NZ IFRS 7.36(d)

Construction contracts
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position relate to construction contracts 
in progress at the end of the reporting period.  The amounts are calculated as the net 
amounts of costs incurred plus recognised profits, less recognised losses and progress 
billings.  

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are analysed as follows:

NZ IAS 11.43
NZ IAS 11.44

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognised profits for all 
contracts in progress 3,421 3,121

NZ IAS 11.40(a)

Less billings to date (2,335) (2,354
1,086 797

Due from customers for construction work 1,374 974 NZ IAS 11.42(a)

Due to customers for constriction work (recognised in other liabilities) (288) (207) NZ IAS 11.42(b)

1,086 767

Advances paid from customers for construction contracts related to work not yet performed 
have been recognised in “other liabilities” and amount to $225,000 (2010: $220,000).

NZ IAS 11.40(b)

Retentions on construction contracts amount to $10,000 (2010: $Nil) included within “trade 
and other receivables”.  Retentions will be received upon acceptance by the customer of the 
work performed.

NZ IAS 11.40(c)

No amounts due in relation to construction contracts from customers were past due or 
impaired at balance date (2010: Nil).
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18 Inventory
Group Parent

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Raw materials 7,737 7,907 1,934 1,977 NZ IAS  2.36(b)

Work in progress 767 608 125 386
Finished goods 10,044 8,861 2,578 1,981
Total inventories 18,548 17,376 4,637 4,344

No inventory has been provided as security for any loans or borrowings. NZ IAS 2.36(h)

The write down of inventories for the Parent and Group in the year amounted to $26,000 
(2010: $46,000)

NZ IAS 2.36(e),(f)

19 Derivative financial instruments
The Parent and Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to mitigate exchange rate 
exposure arising from forecast sales in Australian dollars and other currencies.  

NZ IFRS 7.22(a)

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Current assets
US dollar forward exchange contracts –
cash flow hedge 467 - 116 -
Other forward exchange contracts 115 212 29 53

582 212 145 53
Current liabilities
US dollar forward exchange contracts –
cash flow hedge - (160) - 40
Net fair value of derivatives 582 52 145 13

All US dollar forward exchange contracts have been designated as hedging instruments in 
cash flow hedges in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.

NZ IFRS 7.22(b)

Other forward exchange contracts are considered by management to be part of economic 
hedge arrangements but have not been formally designated.

NZ IFRS 7.22(c)

All derivatives are measured at fair value. The fair value of forward foreign exchange 
contracts have been determined using a discounted cash flows valuation technique based on 
quoted market prices. The inputs into the valuation model are from independently sourced 
market parameters such as currency rates. Most market parameters are implied from forward 
foreign exchange contract prices. 

NZ IFRS 7.25,27
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Derivative financial instruments (continued)
Forward currency contracts – cash flow hedges
The cash flows are expected to occur between 2 – 11 months from 1 July 2010 and profit or 
loss within gross sales will be affected over the next few years as sale transactions are 
settled. At balance date, the details of outstanding contracts are:

NZ IFRS 7.23(a)

Notional amounts
$NZD

Average exchange 
rate

NZ IFRS 7.39(a)

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Sell $US maturity 2 – 11 months - Group 28,000 24,000 0.0344 0.6835
Sell $US maturity 2 – 11 months - Parent 5,000 7,000 0.7348 0.6837

The forward exchange contracts are expected to be considered highly effective hedges when 
they are matched against forecast sales and any gains or loss on the contract attributable to 
the hedged risk is recognised in other comprehensive income (cash flow reserve). When the 
sale transaction is settled the reserve is transferred to profit or loss. 

20 Assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale and discontinued 
operations
In the middle of 2010 management decided to discontinue in-store sales of IT and 
telecommunications hardware.  This decision was taken in line with the Group's strategy to 
focus on its web-based online retail business. Consequently, assets and liabilities of High 
Street Limited and subsidiaries (included in the retail segment) were classified as a disposal 
group.  Revenue and expenses, gains and losses relating to the discontinuation of this 
subgroup have been eliminated from group profit or loss from continuing operations and are 
shown as a single line item on the face of the statement of comprehensive income (see “loss 
for the year from discontinued operations”).

NZ IFRS 5.41(a)-(d)

On 31 December 2010, High Street Limited and subsidiaries were sold for a total of 
$3,117,000 in cash resulting in a loss of $29,000 before tax primarily due to related selling 
costs.  Operating profit of High Street Limited and subsidiaries' until the date of disposal and 
the profit or loss from re-measurement and disposal of assets and liabilities classified as held 
for sale is summarised as follows:

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Revenue 9,803 11,015 NZ IFRS 5.33(b)(i)

Cost of materials (3,450) (3,633)
Employee benefit expense (6,100) (6,411)
Depreciation and amortisation - (765)
Other expenses (180) (100)
Operating profit 73 106
Finance costs (56) (60)
Profit from discontinued operations before tax 17 46
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Profit from discontinued operations before tax 17 46
Tax expense (5) (14) NZ IFRS 5.33(b)(ii)

Profit from discontinued operations 12 32

Gain/ (loss) on re-measurement of disposal group to fair value - (510) NZ IFRS 5.33(b)(iiI)

Gain/ (loss) on disposal (29) -
Income tax impact of disposal 8 153 NZ IFRS 5.33(b)(iv)

Total gain/ (loss) for the year from discontinued operations (9) (325)

Most of the assets and all of the liabilities have been disposed of in this transaction; however, 
the Group continues to own some former High Street storage facilities.  Management expects 
to sell these remaining assets during 2012.  NZ IFRS 5.41(b)-(d)

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in this disposal group at year-end is 
summarised as follows:

NZ IFRS 5.38

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 22
Inventories - 1,081
Property, plant and equipment 103 2,578
Deferred tax - 227
Assets classified as held for sale 103 3,908

Liabilities
Trade creditors and other payables - 190
Provisions - 245
Current tax liabilities - 14
Deferred tax - -
Liabilities classified held for sale - 449

Cash flows generated by High Street Limited and subsidiaries for the reporting periods under 
review until the disposal is summarised as follows: NZ IFRS 5.33(c)

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Operating activities (22) 811
Investing activities 3,117 -
Financing activities - -
Cash flows from discontinued operations 3,095 811

Cash flows from investing activities relate solely to the proceeds from the sale of High Street 
Limited.
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21 Goodwill
Goodwill is recognised by the Group upon acquisition of subsidiary entities. A reconciliation of the gross 
carrying amount and accumulated impairment losses is provided below:

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Gross carrying amount NZ IFRS 3.B67(d)

Opening balance 3,727 1,234 NZ IFRS 3.B67(d)(i)

Acquired through business combination 2,438 2,569 NZ IFRS 3.B67(d)(ii)

Foreign exchange translation movements (135) (76) NZ IFRS 3.B67(d)(vi)

Closing balance 6,030 3,727
NZ IFRS 

3.B67(d)(viii)

Accumulated impairment
Opening balance 190 - NZ IFRS 3.B67(d)(i)

Impairment loss for year 799 190 NZ IFRS 3.B67(d)(v)

Foreign exchange differences - - NZ IFRS 3.B67(d)(vi)

Closing balance 989 190
NZ IFRS 

3.B67(d)(viii)

Goodwill carrying amount 5,041 3,537

The main changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill for the year is a result of the acquisition 
of Good Buy in 2010 and Good Tech in 2011.

Goodwill impairment testing
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
cash generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation 
requires the directors to estimate the future cash flow expected to arise from the cash 
generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

For the purpose of annual impairment testing goodwill is allocated to the following cash-
generating units, which are the units expected to benefit from the synergies of the business 
combinations in which the goodwill arises:

NZ IAS 36.134

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Online retailing, New Zealand 2,388 -
Online retailing, Australia 2,048 2,493 NZ IAS 36.134(a)

Telco Consult 605 1,044
Total goodwill allocated 5,041 3,537

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units were determined through value-in-use 
calculations, based on a detailed three-year forecast and extrapolation of expected cash flows 
for the units' remaining useful lives using the growth rates stated below.  The growth rates 
reflect the long-term average growth rates for the product lines and industries of the cash-
generating units.  The growth rate for online retailing exceeds the overall long-term average 
growth rates for Australia.  This is appropriate because this sector is expected to continue to 
grow at above-average rates for the foreseeable future.

NZ IAS 36.134(c)
NZ IAS 36.134(d)
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Goodwill (continued)
Growth rates Discount rates NZ IAS 36.134(d)(iv)

2011 2010 2011 2010
Online retailing, New Zealand 3.1% - 9.0% - NZ IAS 36.134(d)(v)

Online retailing, Australia 3.0% 3.0% 9.5% 9.5%
Telco Consult 0.1% 0.5% 10.9% 10.1%

Online retailing, New Zealand and Australia NZ IAS 36.134(d)(i)

Management's key assumptions for the online retailing unit include stable profit margins, 
which have been determined based on past experience in this market.  The Group's 
management believes that this is the best available input for forecasting this mature market.  

NZ IAS 36.134(d)(ii)

Telco Consult NZ IAS 36.130(a)

The forecast for the Telco Consult unit was adjusted in 2010 for the decline of consulting 
services related to conventional telecommunication solutions. This market shifted 
considerably towards internet and intranet based solutions during 2010.  This development 
continued in 2011.  Impairment testing, taking into account these latest developments, 
resulted in the further reduction of goodwill in 2011 to the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit.

NZ IAS 36.130(d)

The related goodwill impairment loss of $799,000 in 2011 (2010:$190,000) was included 
within “depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets” and is allocated to 
the consulting segment.

NZ IAS 36.126(a)
NZ IAS 36.129(a)

As a result of the developments in this unit during 2011 and 2010, management expects lower 
growth and moderately declining profit margins for this unit.

NZ IAS 36.134(d)(i)
NZ IAS 36.134(d)(ii)

Apart from the considerations described in determining the value-in-use of the cash-
generating units described above, management is not currently aware of any other probable 
changes that would necessitate changes in its key estimates.  However, the estimate of 
recoverable amount for the Telco Consult unit is particularly sensitive to the discount rate.  

NZ IAS 36.134(f)

If the discount rate of the Group's Telco Consult unit was increased by 1% a further 
impairment loss of $300,000 would have to be recognised, of which $245,000 would be 
written off against goodwill and $55,000 against property, plant and equipment.

NZ IAS 1.125

22 Other intangible assets
The Parent and Group's other intangible assets comprise; acquired software licences, own 
software developments, brand names and customer lists.  

Movements for each class of other intangible assets are as follows:
Group 2011 Acquired 

software 
licence

$000

Internally 
generated 

software
$000

Brand 
names

$000

Customer 
lists
$000

Total
$000

NZ IAS 38.118(e)

Gross carrying amount
Balance 1 July 2010 13,608 14,794 760 374 29,536
Additions – separately acquired 440 - - - 440
Additions – internally developed - 3,306 - - 3,306
Additions – business combinations 3,653 - 215 1,387 5,255
Disposals (1,159) - - - (1,159)
Foreign exchange differences (73) (54) - - (127)
Balance 30 June 2011 16,469 18,046 975 1,761 37,251
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Other intangible assets (continued)

Amortisation and impairment
Balance 1 July 2010 (6,063) (9,381) (162) (89) (15,695)
Amortisation (1,978) (1,315) (125) (110) (3,528)
Impairment losses - (870) - - (870)
Disposals 350 - - - 350
Foreign exchange differences (48) (36) - - (84)
Balance 30 June 2011 (7,739) (11,602) (287) (199) (19,827)

Carrying amount 30 June 2011 8,730 6,444 688 1,562 17,424

Additions to internally generated software include capitalised borrowing costs of $80,000 
(2010:$78,000). In addition to development costs capitalised, the Group expensed as “other 
expenses” $1,690,000 of research and development costs during the year (2010: 
$1,015,000). 

NZ IAS 38.126

During the year the Group entered into an agreement to acquire enterprise resource planning 
software, to support the administration and control of the Group. Minimum contractual 
commitments resulting from this agreement are $97,000 payable during 2012. No other 
material contractual commitments were entered into during 2011 or 2010.

NZ IAS 38.122(e)

One internally generated software product was subject to impairment testing during 2011 as 
the market in telecommunication consulting shifted considerably towards inter- and intranet 
based solutions.  The impairment loss amounted to $70,000 (2010:$Nil). The impaired asset 
was designed to support the implementation and customisation of installed 
telecommunication equipment and remote maintenance of these systems.  

NZ IAS 36.130(a)
NZ IAS 36.130(b)

There are no restrictions over title of Parent and Group intangible assets, nor any intangible 
assets pledges as security.

NZ IAS 38.122(d)

Group 2010 Acquired 
software 

licence
$000

Internally 
generated 

software
$000

Brand 
names

$000

Customer 
lists
$000

Total
$000

NZ IAS 38.118(e)

Gross carrying amount
Balance 1 July 2009 8,672 14,600 - - 23,272
Additions – separately acquired 3,097 - - - 3,097
Additions – internally developed - 216 - - 216
Additions – business combinations 1,859 - 768 378 3,005
Foreign exchange differences (20) (22) (8) (4) (54)
Balance 30 June 2010 13,608 14,794 760 374 29,536

Amortisation and impairment
Balance 1 July 2009 (4,442) (8,166) - - (12,608)
Amortisation (1,607) (1,201) (156) (87) (3,051)
Foreign exchange differences (14) (14) (6) (2) (36)
Balance 30 June 2010 (6,063) (9,381) (162) (89) (15,695)

Carrying amount 30 June 2010 7,545 5,413 598 285 13,841
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Other intangible assets (continued)

Parent 2011 Acquired 
software 

licence
$000

Internally 
generated 

software
$000

Brand 
names

$000

Customer 
lists
$000

Total
$000

NZ IAS 38.118(e)

Gross carrying amount
Balance 1 July 2010 3,402 3,699 190 94 7,385
Additions – separately acquired 110 - - - 110
Additions – internally developed - 827 - - 827
Additions – business combinations 913 - 54 347 1,314
Disposals (290) - - - (290)
Foreign exchange differences (18) (14) - - (32)
Balance 30 June 2011 4,117 4,512 244 441 9,314

Amortisation and impairment
Balance 1 July 2010 (1,517) (2,345) (41) (22) (3,924)
Amortisation (495) (329) (31) (28) (883)
Impairment losses - (218) - - (218)
Disposals 88 - - - 88
Foreign exchange differences (12) (9) - - (21)
Balance 30 June 2011 (1,935) (2,901) (72) (50) (4,958)

Carrying amount 30 June 2011 2,182 1,611 172 391 4,356

Parent 2010 Acquired 
software 

licence
$000

Internally 
generated 

software
$000

Brand 
names

$000

Customer 
lists
$000

Total
$000

Gross carrying amount
Balance 1 July 2009 2,168 3,650 - - 5,818
Additions – separately acquired 774 - - - 774
Additions – internally developed - 54 - - 54
Additions – business combinations 465 - 192 95 752
Foreign exchange differences (5) (6) (2) (1) (14)
Balance 30 June 2010 3,402 3,698 190 94 7,384

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment
Balance 1 July 2009 (1,111) (2,042) - - (3,153)
Current year amortisation (402) (300) (39) (22) (763)
Foreign exchange differences (4) (4) (2) - (10)
Balance 30 June 2010 (1,517) (2,345) (41) (22) (3,924)

Carrying amount 30 June 2010 1,885 1,353 149 72 3,460
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23 Property, plant and equipment
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows: NZ IAS 16.73

Group 2011
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

IT 
equipment

$000

Other 
equipment

$000
Total
$000

Gross carrying amount
Balance 1 July 2010 7,697 19,362 5,579 2,594 35,232
Acquisition through business 
combination 730 1,221 2,306 365 4,622
Additions - 76 - - 76
Revaluation movements 303 - - - 303
Disposals - (401) - - (401)
Foreign exchange differences (21) (81) (79) (54) (235)
Balance 30 June 2011 8,709 20,177 7,806 2,905 39,597

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment
Balance 1 July 2010 - (12,159) (1,503) (923) (14,585)
Current year depreciation - (1,315) (890) (540) (2,745)
Depreciation written back on disposal - 315 - - 315
Foreign exchange differences - (54) (53) (36) (143)
Balance 30 June 2011 - (13,213) (2,446) (1,499) (17,158)

Carrying amount 30 June 2011 8,709 6,964 5,360 1,406 22,439

Group 2010
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

IT 
equipment

$000

Other 
equipment

$000
Total
$000

Gross carrying amount
Balance 1 July 2009 7,697 23,067 4,316 1,226 36,306
Acquisition through business 
combination - - 2,310 838 3,148
Additions - 1,001 1,390 890 3,281
Disposals - - - - -
Revaluation - - - - -
Transfer to available for sale - (4,598) (2,422) (348) (7,368)
Foreign exchange differences - (108) (15) (12) (135)
Balance 30 June 2010 7,697 19,362 5,579 2,594 35,232

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment
Balance 1 July 2009 - (12,944) (1,805) (551) (15,300)
Transfer to available for sale - 3,200 990 200 4,390
Current year depreciation - (2,343) (678) (564) (3,585)
Foreign exchange differences - (72) (10) (8) (90)
Balance 30 June 2010 - (12,159) (1,503) (923) (14,585)

Carrying amount 30 June 2010 7,697 7,203 4,076 1,671 20,647
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Parent 2011
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

IT 
equipment

$000

Other 
equipment

$000
Total
$000

Gross carrying amount
Balance 1 July 2010 1,924 4,840 1,396 649 8,808
Acquisition through business 
combination 182 305 577 91 1,155
Additions - 19 - - 19
Disposals - (100) - - (100)

Revaluation movements 76 - - - 76
Foreign exchange differences (5) (20) (20) (14) (58)
Balance 30 June 2011 2,177 5,044 1,952 726 9,900

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment
Balance 1 July 2010 - (3,040) (375) (231) (3,646)
Current year depreciation - (328) (223) (135) (686)
Depreciation written back on disposal - 79 - - 79
Foreign exchange differences - (14) (13) (9) (36)
Balance 30 June 2011 - (3,303) (612) (375) (4,290)

Carrying amount 30 June 2011 2,177 1,741 1,340 351 5,610

Parent 2010
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

IT 
equipment

$000

Other 
equipment

$000
Total
$000

Gross carrying amount
Balance 1 July 2009 1,924 5,767 1,079 307 9,077
Acquisition through business 
combination - - 578 209 787
Additions - 250 348 223 820
Disposals - (1,150) (605) (87) (1,842)
Foreign exchange differences - (27) (4) (3) (34)
Balance 30 June 2010 1,924 4,840 1,396 649 8,808

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment
Balance 1 July 2009 - (3,236) (451) (138) (3,825)
Current year depreciation - (586) (169) (141) (896)
Depreciation written back on disposal - 800 248 50 1,098
Foreign exchange differences - (18) (3) (2) (23)
Balance 30 June 2010 - (3,040) (375) (231) (3,646)

Carrying amount 30 June 2010 1,924 1,800 1,021 418 5,162
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Revaluations
The Parent and Group engaged New Zealand Valuers Limited, an accredited valuer that uses 
the International Valuation Standards Committee, International Valuation Standards as a 
reference, to determine the fair value of land. The effective date of the revaluation was 30 
June 2011.

Land is valued at fair value using market-based evidence based on its highest and best use 
with reference to comparable land values.

NZ IAS 16.77,
NZ 77.2 

The value of land recognised upon the acquisition of Good Tech was $730,000. This land was 
not re-valued to fair value at the reporting date as management determined that the effect of 
changes in market prices between the acquisition and reporting dates is immaterial.

If the cost model had been used, the carrying value of land would have been: 
Group      $7,421,000 (2010:$6,712,000)
Parent     $1,198,000 (2010:$1,098,000)

NZ IAS 16.77(e)

Bank security
The Parent and Group land and buildings have been pledged as security for “loans and 
borrowings” (see note 31).

NZ IAS 16.74(a)

Capital commitments
The Parent and Group have a contractual commitment to acquire IT equipment of $1,304,000 
payable in 2012.  In 2011 and 2010 there were no other material contractual commitments.

NZ IAS 16.74(c)

24 Investment Property
Investment property includes real estate properties in New Zealand and Australia held by the 
Parent and Group, which are held to earn rents and for capital appreciation purposes.

Movements in carrying value of investment property are as follows:
Group Parent

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Opening balance as at 1 July 12,277 12,102 3,069 3,025 NZ IAS 40.76

Additions - - - - NZ IAS 40.76(a)

Additions through business combination 75 - 19 - NZ IAS 40.76(b)

Fair value gain/ (loss) 288 150 72 38 NZ IAS 40.76(d)

Foreign exchange differences 22 25 6 6 NZ IAS 40.76(e)

Closing balance 30 June 12,662 12,277 3,166 3,069
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Investment Property (continued)

Reconciliation of net profit generated from investment properties: NZ IAS 40.75(f)

Rental income derived from investment 
properties

1,066 1,028 267 257

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and 
maintenance) generating rental income

(195) (194) (49) (12)

Direct operating expenses (including repairs and 
maintenance) that did not generate rental income

(18) (12) (4) (3)

Net profit arising from investment properties 853 822 214 242

The Parent and Group have no restrictions on the realisability of its investment property 
and no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for 
repairs, maintenance and enhancements.    

NZ IAS 40.75(d)

Investment properties are carried at fair value, which has been determined based on 
valuations performed by New Zealand Valuers Limited as at 30 June 2011 (and 30 June 
2010) for the current (and previous) years. New Zealand Valuers Limited is an industry 
specialist in valuing these types of investment properties.

NZ IAS 40.75(e)
NZ IAS 40.NZ.75.1

In determining fair value, the expected net cash flows applicable to each investment 
property have been discounted to the present value using a market determined, risk 
adjusted, discount rate applicable to the respective asset.  

NZ IAS 40.75(d)

The following main inputs to determining fair value have been used: NZ IAS 40.75(d)

Group Parent
2011

%
2010

%
2011

%
2010

%
Yields 12 10 12 10 NZ IAS 40.76

Inflation 3.4 2.9 3.4 2.9
Long term vacancy rates 78 76 68 76 NZ IAS 40.76(a)

Long term growth in real rental rates 4 3 4 3 NZ IAS 40.76(d)

Investment properties with a carrying value of $8,327,000 (2010:$7,348,000) are subject to 
first charge security for Parent and Group borrowings (see note 31).

NZ IAS 40.76(g)

Minimum lease income
The properties are all leased out under operating leases. The lease contracts are all non-
cancellable for 8 years from the commencement of the lease. Future minimum lease 
rentals are as follows:

NZ IAS 17.56(c)

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Less than one year 1,075 1,030 269 2,575 NZ IAS 17.56(a) 

Between one and five years 5,375 5,150 1,344 1,288
More than five years 2,090 1,978 523 495
Total 8,540 8,158 2,136 4,358
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25 Other financial assets
Group Parent

Current assets 2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Financial assets held for trading (carried at 
fair value through profit or loss)
Money market funds 655 649 164 162
Total current 655 649 164 162

Non-current assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Bonds 2,814 3,142 - -
Available-for-sale financial assets
Securities and debentures 951 888 - -
Total non-current 3,765 4,030 - -

Money market funds
The fair value of the Parent and Group investments in money market funds has been 
determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.  All money market 
funds are publicly traded on stock exchanges in New Zealand.  Gains and losses are 
recorded within “other financial items”, within the reported profit or loss.

Bonds
Held-to-maturity financial assets comprise zero coupon and US straight bonds with fixed 
interest rates between 5.5% and 6.2%.  They mature in 2012 and 2013.  The carrying 
amounts, measured at amortised cost, and fair values of these financial assets are as follows:

Carrying value Fair value
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

NZ IFRS 7.25
NZ IFRS 7.8(b)

Bonds 2,814 3,142 2,895 2,995

Bonds held are publicly traded, and fair values have been estimated by reference to their 
quoted bid prices at their reporting date.  The fair value of US-dollar straight bonds also 
reflects the US-dollar spot rate as at the reporting date.

NZ IFRS 7.27(a)
NZ IFRS 7.27(b)

Bonds held are publicly traded, and fair values have been estimated by reference to their 
quoted bid prices at their reporting date.  The fair value of US-dollar straight bonds also 
reflects the US-dollar spot rate as at the reporting date.

NZ IFRS 7.27(a)
NZ IFRS 7.27(b)
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Other financial assets (continued)

Securities and debentures
The carrying amounts of available-for-sale financial assets, comprising securities and 
debentures, are as follows:

NZ IFRS 7.25

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Listed equity investment 421 343 - -
Investment in XY Limited 433 433 - -
Listed Debentures 97 112 - -
Total 951 888 -

Other than the investment in XY Limited, the assets are stated at fair value. 

XY Limited, one of the Group's suppliers in the telecommunication business, is not a listed 
company.  XY Limited is currently in its second year of a major restructuring process, which 
has triggered possible litigation by third parties.  Due to numerous uncertainties regarding the 
future development of XY Limited, the fair value of the Group's equity investment in this entity 
cannot be reliably measured.  This investment has therefore been stated at cost less 
impairment charges.  An impairment charge of $350,000 was recognised in 2011 
(2010:$87,000), within “finance costs”.  The Group plans to continue to hold its 15% interest in 
XY Limited while it secures other supply lines.

NZ IFRS 7.30(a)-(e)

All the listed equity securities and debentures are denominated in NZD and are publicly traded 
in New Zealand, except for XY Limited. Fair values have been determined by reference to their 
quoted bid prices at the reporting date. Fair value movements are reported as other 
comprehensive income and carried in the “available-for sale reserve” within equity until the 
securities or debentures are sold.

26 Trade creditors and other payables
Group Parent

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Current
Trade creditors 7,893 6,512 1,973 1,628
Related party payables NZ IAS 1.69.77

Short-term bank overdraft 654 78 163 20
Finance lease liabilities (refer to note 29) 512 506 128 126

9,059 7,096 2,265 1,774
Non-current 
Finance lease liabilities (refer to note 29) 4,096 4,608 1,024 1,152
Total 13,155 11,704 3,289 2,926

Trade creditors and other payables (except for finance leases) are non-interest bearing and 
are normally settled on 30 day terms, therefore the carrying amount approximates its fair 
value.

NZ IFRS 7.25
NZ IFRS 7.27(a)
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Trade creditors and other payables (except for finance leases) are non-interest bearing and 
are normally settled on 30 day terms, therefore the carrying amount approximates its fair 
value.

NZ IFRS 7.25
NZ IFRS 7.27(a)

The carrying value of the Parent and Group’s finance lease liabilities approximates its fair 
value. This amount reflects the present value, taking into account interest rates available on 
secured bank borrowings on similar terms.

NZ IFRS 7.27(b)
NZ IFRS 7.29

27 Employee entitlements
Group Parent

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Current
Short-term employee entitlements 221 303 55 76
Defined benefit plan obligations 1,246 1,193 - -

1,467 1,496 55 76
Non-current
Defined benefit obligations 11,224 10,812 - -
Total 12,691 12,608 55 76

Short–term employee entitlements represent the Parent and Group's obligation to its current 
and former employees that are expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date.  
These mainly consist of accrued holiday entitlements at the reporting date.

NZ IAS 1.69

Defined benefit plan obligations
The Group has set up a partly funded pension scheme (the “Plan”) for senior management 
that was available to certain senior workers after completing five years' service. According to 
the plan, a certain percentage of the current salary is converted into a pension component 
each year.  Pensions under this scheme are paid out when a beneficiary has reached the age 
of 65.

NZ IAS 19.120A(b)

The Group is liable for any under-funded past service pension liability and the Group has 
undertaken to fund any shortfall (a liability does not exist for the Parent).

(a) Net funding position
Group

2011
$000

2010
$000

Present value of defined benefit obligations 53,874 47,410
Fair value of Plan assets (42,242) (32,575)
Net actuarial gain not yet recognised 1,438 (1,930)
Past service cost not yet recognised (600) (900)
(Surplus) deficit in Plan funding position 12,470 12,005
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Employee entitlements (continued)  

Defined benefit plan obligations

Funding obligation represented in the Statement of Financial Position
Current liabilities 11,224 10,812
Non- current liabilities 1,246 1,193
Total 12,470 12,005

(b) Present value of defined benefit obligations NZ IAS 19.120A(c)

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Present value of obligations at beginning of year 47,410 38,689
Current service cost 1,308 1,530
Interest cost 2,488 2,467
Past service costs - 1,500
Contribution by Plan participants 658 650
Actuarial  losses/(gains) 3,261 3,761
Benefits paid (1,251) (1,187)
Present value of obligations  at end of year 53,874 47,410

Assumptions used in determination of the Present value of defined benefit obligation: NZ IAS 19.120A(n)

2011 2010
Discount rate 5.3% 5.5%
Expected rate of return on Plan assets 7.2% 7.4%
Expected rate of salary growth 4.3% 4.2%
Medical cost trend rates 4.4% 4.2%
Average life expectancies

Male, 65 years of age at reporting date 82.5 82.5
Female, 65 years of age at reporting date 84.5 84.5
Male, 45 years of age at reporting date 84.5 84.5
Female, 45 years of age at reporting date 87.5 87.5

These assumptions were developed by management under consideration of expert advice 
provided by independent actuarial appraisers and should be regarded as management's best 
estimate.  The actual outcomes may vary from the estimates.  

NZ IAS 1.125(a)
NZ IAS 1.125(b)
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Employee entitlements (continued)  

Defined benefit plan obligations

Estimation uncertainties exist especially in regards to medical cost trends, which may vary 
significantly in future appraisals of the Group's defined benefit obligations. If the medical cost 
rate assumed in the actuarial valuation of defined benefit obligations had been varied by +/- 1 
percent, this would have altered the Group's defined benefit schemes at follows:

NZ IAS 19.120A(o)

2011
$000

2010
$000

+1% -1% +1% -1%
Aggregate of current service & interest cost 684 (627) 746 (681)
Defined benefit obligation for medical costs 9,697 (8,797) 8,534 (7,734)

Based on historical data, the Group expects contributions in the range of $2,200,000 to 
$2,500,000 to be paid for 2012.

NZ IAS 19.120A(q)

(c) Fair value of plan assets Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

NZ IAS 19.120A(e)

Fair value Plan assets at beginning of year 32,575 29,901
Expected return on Plan assets 2,445 2,417
Actuarial gains/ (losses) 6,629 (479)
Contributions by the Group 1,186 1,273
Contributions by Plan beneficiaries 658 650
Benefits paid (1,251) (1,187)
Fair value of Plan assets at end of year 42,242 32,575

Expected returns on Plan assets are based on a weighted average of expected returns of the 
various assets in the plan, and include an analysis of historical returns and predictions about 
future returns.  Expected returns on Plan assets are estimated by independent pension 
scheme appraisals undertaken by external valuers.  In 2011, the actual return on plan assets 
was $2,900,000 (2010:$1,900,000).

NZ IAS 19.120A(l,m)

Plan assets do not comprise any of the Group's own financial instruments or any assets used 
by Group companies.  

NZ IAS 19,120A(k)

Plan assets can be broken down into the following major categories of investments: NZ IAS 19,120A(j)

2011 2010
Real estate funds 27% 27%
Equity investment funds 50% 51%
Money market funds 1% 1%
Other debt instruments 17% 18%
Liquid funds 5% 4%
Total 100% 100%
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Employee entitlements (continued)  

Defined benefit plan obligations

(d) Defined benefit plan obligation movements recognised in profit or loss
Group

2011
$000

2010
$000

NZ IAS 19.120A(g)

Employee benefit expense 
Current service cost 1,308 1,530
Past service cost 300 600

1,608 2,130
Finance costs 
Interest costs 2,487 2,267

Other movements 
Expected return on plan assets (2,445) (2,417)
Total recognised in profit or loss 1,651 1,980

The Group recognises all actuarial gains and losses in accordance with the corridor approach 
(i.e. movements of less than 10% are not recognised).  Actuarial gains and losses arising in 
the year were within the corridor and have therefore not been recognised in profit or loss.

NZ IAS 19.120A(h)

28 Provisions
Provisions held by the Group can be summarised as follows (the Parent had no provisions in 
the years reported):

Group
Restructuring

$000
Other
$000

Total
$000

Balance 1 July 2,110 1,235 3,345 NZ IAS 37.84(a)

Additional provisions - 1,570 1,570 NZ IAS 37.84(b)

Provisions settled/ extinguished (876) (2,211) (3,087) NZ IAS 37.84(c)

Provisions reversed (510) (103) (613) NZ IAS 37.84(d)

Balance 30 June 724 491 1,215

All provisions are considered current liabilities. NZ IAS 1.69

Provisions recognised from business combination are included in “additional provisions”.  
Provisions classified as “held for sale” are included within “provisions settled/ extinguished”.

The restructuring provisions relates to the “Phoenix Programme”, which was initiated in early 
2009 and carried out predominantly in 2009 and 2010.  The Group's management expects to 
settle the remaining termination remuneration for former employees and legal fees relating to 
the restructuring programme in 2011.  The Group is not eligible for any reimbursement by third 
parties in this regard.

NZ IAS 37.85(a)
NZ IAS 37.85(b)
NZ IAS 37.85(c)
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Provisions (continued)

The restructuring provision as at 30 June 2011 was reduced due to the outcome of several 
lawsuits brought against the Group during 2010 by former employees.  Out of court 
settlements based on the outcome of earlier settlements are expected for most of the 
remaining claims.

NZ IAS 1.125(a)

Other provisions relate to various legal and other claims by customers, including warranties for 
which customers are covered for the cost of repairs.  The Group is not eligible for any 
reimbursement by third parties in this regard. Other provisions are expected to be settled or 
expired within 3 to 18 months.

29 Finance Lease liabilities
Group Parent

2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Current 512 506 128 126
Non current 4,096 4,608 1,024 1,152
Total 4,608 5,114 1,152 1,278

The Parent and Group's main warehouse and related facilities are held under a finance lease 
arrangement.  The net carrying amount of the assets is $3,362,000 (2010:$3,723,000) and 
leased assets are included in “buildings” within property, plant and equipment.

NZ IAS 17.31(a)

Finance lease liabilities are reported within “trade creditors and other payables” (note 27).

Furthermore, the Parent and Group has leased IT equipment under finance lease 
arrangements. The net carrying amount of the assets is $231,000 (2010:$480,000) and the 
leased assets are included in “IT equipment” within property, plant and equipment.

Finance lease liabilities are secured by the related assets held under finance leases.

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:
–  2011 - Group

Future minimum lease 
payments

$000
Interest

$000

Present value 
of minimum 

lease payments
$000

NZ IAS 17.31(b)

Less than one year 727 215 512
Between one and five years 1,415 330 1,085
More than five years 3,539 528 3,011
Total 5,681 1,073 4,608

2010 - Group
Future minimum 
lease payments

$000
Interest

$000

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments
$000

NZ IAS 17.31(b)

Less than one year 726 220 506
Between one and five years 1,432 336 1,096
More than five years 4,072 560 3,512
Total 6,230 1,116 5,114
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Finance Lease liabilities (continued)

2011 - Parent
Future minimum 
lease payments

$000
Interest

$000

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments
$000

NZ IAS 17.31(b)

Less than one year 182 54 128
Between one and five years 354 83 271
More than five years 885 132 753
Total 1,421 269 1,152

2010 - Parent
Future minimum 
lease payments

$000
Interest

$000

Present value of 
minimum lease 

payments
$000

NZ IAS 17.31(b)

Less than one year 182 55 127
Between one and five years 358 84 274
More than five years 1,018 140 878
Total 1,558 279 1,279

The finance rate charged on finance leases ranges from 8.0% - 12.0% per annum (2010:9.0% 
- 14.0%).

The lease agreement for the main warehouse includes fixed lease payments and a purchase 
option at the end of the 10 year lease term.  The agreement is non-cancellable but does not 
contain any further restrictions.

NZ IAS 17.31(e)

No contingent rents were recognised as an expense in the year (2010:$Nil), and no future 
sublease income is expected to be received as all assets are used exclusively by the Parent 
and Group.

NZ IAS 17.31(c)-(d)

30 Operating leases
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: NZ IAS 17.35(a)

Group
2011
$000

2010
$000

Less than one year 4,211 3,431
Between one and five years 12,567 12,100
More than five year 25,678 24,342
Total 42,456 39,873

The Parent has not entered into any operating leases arrangements during the year (2010: 
None).

The Group leases a number of warehouse and factory facilities under operating leases. The 
leases typically run for a period of 10 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. 
Leased payments are increased every five years to reflect market rentals.

NZ IAS 17.35(d)
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Operating leases (continued)
One of the leased properties has been sublet by the Group. The lease and sublease expire in 
2013. Sublease payments of $70,000 are expected to be received during 2012.

NZ IAS 17.35(b)

During the year an amount of $3,568,000 (2010:$3,398,000) was expensed in operating lease 
payments. An amount of $150,000 (2010:$90,000) was recognised as other income in respect 
of subleases.

NZ IAS 17.35(c)

Except for the Group’s main warehouse, other warehouse and factory leases were entered into 
as combined leases of land and buildings. Since the land title does not pass, the Group 
determined that the land lease is an operating lease. The rent paid to the landlord of the building 
is increased to market rent at regular intervals, and the Group does not participate in the 
residual value of the buildings, it was determined that substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the buildings are with the land lord. As such, the Group determined that the building lease is an 
operating lease.

NZ IFRS 7.15A

31 Loans and Borrowings
Loans and borrowings of the Group include the following financial liabilities (the Parent held no 
loans and borrowings in the years reported) :

Group
Current Non current

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Measured at amortised cost NZ IFRS 7.8(f)

NZD bank loans 4,565 3,124 - -
Non-convertible bond - - 8,300 8,300
Subordinated shareholder loan - - 5,000 5,000

4,565 3,124 13,300 13,300
Measured at fair value through profit and loss NZ IFRS 7.8(e)(i)

USD bank loans 250 255 7,700 7,965
Total loans and borrowings 4,815 3,379 21,000 21,265

Other than the US-dollar loans, all borrowings are denominated in NZD.  

Fair value of loans and borrowings NZ IFRS 7.25

2011 2010
Fair 

value
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount

$000 $000 $000 $000
USD bank loans 7,950 7,950 8,220 8,220
NZD bank loans 4,565 4,565 3,124 3,124
Non-convertible bond 8,259 8,300 8,383 8,300
Subordinated shareholder loan 4,975 5,000 5,050 5,000
Total 25,749 25,815 24,777 24,644
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Loans and Borrowings (continued)

Fair values of long-term financial liabilities have been determined by calculating their present 
values at the reporting date, using fixed effective market interest rates available to the Group.  
Except for the US-dollar loans, no fair value changes have been included in profit or loss for the 
period as financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. NZ IFRS 7.27

Borrowings at fair value through profit and loss
Group

2011 2010
$000 $000

Carrying amount 1 April 8,220 8,380
Principal repayments (300) (230)
New borrowings - -
Fair value movement due to:

Changes in credit risk - - NZ IFRS 7.10(a)

Other market factors 30 70
Carrying amount 30 June 7,950 8,220 NZ IFRS 7.25

The fair value of the loans is estimated using a valuation technique.  All significant inputs into the 
model are based on observable market prices, e.g. market interest rates of similar loans with 
similar risk.  The interest rate used for this calculation is 3.9% (2010:4.1%).

NZ IFRS 7.27(a)
NZ IFRS 7.27(b)

The cumulative changes since fair value designation attributable to changes in credit risk are 
$Nil (2010: $Nil).  The Group estimates the credit risk related change in fair value on a residual 
basis, as the difference between fair value changes specifically attributable to interest rates and 
foreign exchange rates and the total change in fair value.  At year-end the estimate shows an 
insignificant change attributable to credit risk.

NZ IFRS 7.10(a)
NZ IFRS 7.11(a)

The total undiscounted amount repayable at maturity in respect of the US-dollar loan, converted 
at year-end exchange rates is $7,755,000 (2010:$8,055.000; equivalent to a difference between 
the carrying amount and the amount repayable of $195,000 (2010:$165,000).

NZ IFRS 7.10(b)

Borrowings at amortised cost
Other bank borrowings are secured by land and buildings owned by the Group.  Current 
interest rates are variable and average 4.0 % (2010:4.1%).

NZ IFRS 16.74(a)
NZ IFRS 7.31

The Group's non-convertible bond with a fixed interest rate of 5.0% (2010:5.0%) matures on 20 
November 2013 and is therefore classified as non-current.

NZ IFRS 7.31

The subordinated shareholder loan was provided by the Parent's main shareholder, the LOM 
Investment Trust.  It is perpetual and carries a fixed coupon of 4.0% (2010:4%).  It is repayable 
only upon liquidation of the Group.

NZ IFRS 24.17
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32 Other liabilities and deferred income
Group Parent

2011 2010 2011 2010
Current $000 $000 $000 $000
Due to customers for construction contracts 288 207 - -
Advances received for constriction contracts 225 220 - -
Deferred service income 2,123 2,291 -
Deferred gains 22 657 - -
Other 100 100 - 2,598
Total 2,758 3,475 - 2,598

Non-current
Contingent consideration – Good Tech 620 - - -
Deferred gains 1,400 1,650 - -
Other - - - 22,751
Total 2,020 1,650 - 22,751

The amount presented as deferred gains relates to an office and production building, which was 
subject to a sale and lease back transaction in 2002, with a sales price above fair value.  The 
excess of proceeds received over fair value was deferred and is being amortised over the lease 
term of 15 years.  In 2011, deferred income of $100,000 (2010:$100,000) was recognised in 
profit or loss relating to this transaction.  The subsequent leasing agreement is treated as an 
operating lease.  The non-current part of the deferred gain will be amortised between 2012 and 
the end of the lease term.

33 Share capital
The share capital of the Parent consists only of fully paid ordinary shares; the shares do not 
have a par value.  All shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of 
capital and represent one vote at the shareholders' meeting of the Parent.

NZ IAS 1.79(a)(iii)
NZ IAS 1.79(a)(v)

Parent
# of shares

‘000
Carrying value

$000
2011 2010 2011 2010

Shares issued and fully paid NZ IAS 1.79(a)

Opening balance 12,000 12,000 15,050 15,050
Shares issued in year 1,500 - 16,680 -
Shares issued under share-based payments 270 - 1,685 -
Closing balance of shares issued 13,770 12,000 33,415 15,050
Shares authorised for share based payments 600 600 - -
Total shared authorised 30 June 14,370 12,600 33,415 15,050

The authorised shares that have not yet been issued have been authorised solely for use in the 
Group's share-based remuneration programmes (see note 38).

NZ IAS 
1.79(a)(vii)

None of the Parent's shares are held by any company within the Group. NZ IAS 1.79(a)(vi)
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34 Other equity reserves

Share option  reserve
The share option reserve is used to record the value of share based payments provided to 
employees, including key management personal, as part of their remuneration.

NZ IAS 1.79(b)

Group Parent
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance 466 - 466 -
Employee remuneration – equity settled 
share-based payment 298 466 298 466
Closing balance 764 466 764 466

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries for consolidation purposes.

It is also used to record gains and losses on hedges of the net investments in foreign operations. NZ IAS 1.79(b)

Group Parent NZ IAS 1.106

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance (359) (113) (90) (28)
Current year gains/ (loss) (664) (341) (166) (85)
Income tax component taken to other 
comprehensive income 176 95 44 24
Closing balance (847) (359) 212 (90)

Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increases and decreases in the fair value of land 
only to the extent that they offset each other (i.e. the reserve cannot fall into deficit).    

Group Parent NZ IAS 1.106

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance 689 689 172 172
Revaluation of land 303 - 76 -
Income tax component taken to other 
comprehensive income (91) - (23) -
Closing balance 901 689 225 172
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Other equity reserves (continued)

Available-for-sale reserve
This reserve records the movements in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets. Upon sale 
of available-for-sale financial instruments, the accumulative balance of fair value gains/(losses) 
related that asset is reclassified to profit and loss.

Group Parent NZ IAS 1.106

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance 35 - 9 -
Current year fair value gains/(losses) 113 35 28 9
Reclassification to profit and loss (50) - (12) -
Closing balance 98 35 25 9

Cash flow hedge reserve
This reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge 
that is determined to be an effective hedge.

Group Parent NZ IAS 1.106

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance (160) 312 (40) 78
Current year gains/(losses) 367 (47) 92 (12)
Reclassification to profit and loss 260 (425) 65 (106)
Equity accounted investments

Current year gains/(losses) 5 - - -
Reclassification to profit and loss (3) - - -

Closing balance 469 (160) 117 (40)
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35 Earnings per share and dividends

Earnings per share
Both the basic and diluted earnings per share have been calculated using the profit attributable 
to shareholders of the Parent as the numerator, i.e. no adjustments to profit were necessary in 
2011 or 2010.

NZ IAS 33.70(a)

The weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share can be 
reconciled to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic 
earnings per share as follows:

NZ IAS 33.70(b)

Group
2011 2010
$000 $000

Weighted average number of shares in basic earnings per share 12,520 12,000
Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of share-
based payments

17 21 NZ IAS 33.70(b)

Weighted average number of shares used in diluted earnings per 
share

12,537 12,021

Dividends paid and proposed
Parent and Group NZ IAS 1.107 

2011 2010
Dividends paid during the year: $000 $000
Fully imputed interim dividend (25c per share) 3,000 -

A fully imputed final dividend of $6,885,000 (50c per share) has been declared since the end of 
the financial year and is proposed to be paid on 15 October 2011 (2010:$Nil).  This dividend has 
not been recognised as a liability in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011. 
No income tax consequences are expected to arise as a result of this transaction at the Parent 
and Group level.

NZ IAS 1.137(a)
NZ IAS 12.81(i)

Parent NZ IAS 12.81(a)

2011 2010
Imputation credit balance $000 $000
The amount of imputation credits available for the subsequent year are:
Balance at beginning of the year 2,450 3,253
Imputation credits attached to dividends received during the year - -
Income tax payments during the year 408 294
Balance at end of the year 2,858 3,817
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36 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities NZ IAS 1.20.1

Group Parent
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Net profit for the year 15,447 13,452 17,448 3,363

Add/(deduct) non-cash items:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 7,942 6,826 1,786 1,659
Fair value movements on financial instruments 
through profit and loss (219) 373 (54) 93
Defined benefit plan actuarial (gains)/ losses 465 707 - -
Changes in fair value of investment property (310) (175) (78) (44)
Bad debt expense 72 864 - -
Share of profit from associates (60) (12) (60) (12)
Foreign exchange differences (123) (1,164) - -
Other non-cash items (12,597) (11,608) (16,096) (1,017)

Add/(deduct) items classified as investing or 
financing activities:
Acquisition costs 223 76 - -
Interest and dividends 221 439 55 110
Return on Plan assets (2,445) (2,417) - -

Add/(deduct) movements in working capital:
(Increase)/ decrease in inventories 7,823 6,764 1,956 1,691
(Increase)/ decrease in trade debtors and other 
receivables (281) (573) (70) (143)
(Increase)/ decrease in other financial assets (430) 362 108 91
Increase/ (decrease) in trade creditors and other 
payables (2,841) (2,856) (710) (714)
Increase/ (decrease) in employee entitlements (82) 23 (20) 6
Increase/ (decrease) in deferred tax 1,215 971 304 243
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions (40) (2,825) - -
Net cash flows from/ (used in) operating activities 12,980 9,227 4,569 5,326

In 2011, the Group acquired Good Tech. The consideration transferred included a contingent 
payment arrangement amounting to $600,000 as of the acquisition date. This is a non-cash 
transaction excluded from the statement of cash flows.

NZ IAS 7.43
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37 Employee share-based payment plans
As at 30 June 2011 the Parent and Group maintained two equity settled share-based payment 
schemes for employee remuneration, the Star Programme and the Stay Programme.

The Star Programme, is part of the remuneration package of the Parent and Group's senior 
management.  Options will only vest subject to the achievement of the following total 
shareholder return performance condition.  If the Company’s total shareholder return 
(representing dividend per share plus increase in share price divided by initial share price) is in 
the top quartile of companies in the NZX 100 Index (the Index) over the vesting period, the full 
number of options will vest.  For performance between median and upper quartile, vesting will 
occur on a straight-line basis so that 25% of the options vest for median performance and full 
vesting occurs for top quartile performance.  No options will vest if the total shareholder return is 
below the median in the Index.  In addition, persons eligible to participate in this programme 
have to be employed until the end of the arranged vesting period. Upon vesting, each option 
allows the holder to purchase one ordinary share at a discount of 20-25% of the market price 
determined at grant date.

NZ IFRS 2.45(a)

The Stay Programme, is part of the remuneration package of the Group's research,
development and sales personnel.  For the options granted to vest, persons eligible to 
participate in this programme have to remain employed for the agreed vesting period.  The 
maximum term of the options granted under the Stay Programme ends on 31 July 2011.  Upon 
vesting, each option allows the holder to purchase one ordinary share at a discount of 15-20% 
of the market price determined at grant date.

NZ IFRS 2.45(a)

All share-based employee remuneration will be settled in equity.  The Parent and Group have no 
legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options.  

Share options and weighted average exercise prices
Star programme Stay programme

No. Of 
shares

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

No. Of 
shares

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price $

NZ IFRS 2.45(b)

Outstanding 1 July 2009 300,000 6.24 92,250 5.81
Granted - - - -
Forfeited (513) 6.24 (1,012) 5.81
Exercised - - - -
Expired - - - -
Outstanding 30 June 2010 299,487 6.24 94,238 5.81

Granted 100,000 7.81 - -
Forfeited (312) 6.24 (3,849) 5.81
Exercised (270,000) 6.24 - -
Expired - - - -
Outstanding 30 June 2011 129,175 7.45 90,749 5.81

Exercisable at 30 June 2010 - - - -
Exercisable at 30 June 2011 29,175 6.24 - -
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Employee share-based payment plans (continued)
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was 11.19% (no exercises in 2010).

NZ IFRS 2.45(c)

The fair values of options granted were determined using a variation of the binomial option 
pricing model that takes into account factors specific to the share incentive plans, such as the 
vesting period.  The total shareholder return performance condition related to the Star 
Programme, being a market condition, has been incorporated into the measurement by means 
of actuarial modelling.  

NZ IFRS 2.47(a)(i)

The following principal assumptions were used in the valuation of share options:

Star programme
Stay 

programme
NZ IFRS 2.47

Grant date 1 July 2007 1 August 10 5 July 2006
Vesting period ends 30 June 2010 31 July 2013 31 July 2011
Share price at date of grant $8.00 $10.01 $7.00
Volatility 50% 50% 50%
Option life 5 years 5 yeas 7 years
Dividend yield 1% 1% 1%
Risk-free investment rate 4% 4% 4%
Fair value at grant date 4.00 6.70 5.30
Exercise price at date of grant 6.24 7.81 5.81
Exercisable from/ to 1 July 2010/ 30 

June 2012
1 August 2013/ 

30 June 2015
1 August 2011/ 

4 July 2013

Weighted average remaining 
contractual life 1.0 years 4.1 years 2.0 years NZ IFRS 2.45(d)

The underlying expected volatility was determined by reference to historical data of the 
Company's shares over a period of time since its flotation on the NZX.  No special features 
inherent to the options granted were incorporated into measurement of fair value.

NZ IFRS 
2.47(a)(ii)

In total, $298,000 of employee remuneration expense (all of which related to equity-settled 
share-based payment transactions) has been included in profit or loss for 2011 (2010:$446,000) 
and credited to share option reserve.

NZ IFRS 2.51
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38 Financial instruments

Classification of financial instruments
The carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position relate to the following categories of financial asset and liabilities.

Group 2011
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Total
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 34,789 - - - - - 34,789
Trade debtors and other receivables - - 33,629 - - - - - 33,629
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - 467 115 582
Other financial assets 655 2,814 - 951 - - - - 4,420

655 2,814 68,418 951 - - 467 115 73,420

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other payables - - - - - 13,155 - - 13,155
Loans and borrowings - - - - 7,950 16,865 - - 24,816
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - - - -

- - - - 7,950 30,020 - - 34,971
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Classification of financial instruments
Group 2010
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Total
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 11,237 - - - - 11,237
Trade debtors and other receivables - - 25,628 - - - - 25,628
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - (160) 212 52
Other financial assets 649 3,142 - 888 - - - 4,679

649 3,142 36,865 888 - - (160) 212 41,596

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other payables - - - - - 11,704 - - 11,704
Loans and borrowings - - - - 8,220 16,424 - - 24,644
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - -

- - - - 8,220 28,128 - - 36,348
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Classification of financial instruments
Parent 2011
$000

Fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

th
ro

ug
h 

pr
of

it 
an

d 
lo

ss
 

H
el

d-
to

-m
at

ur
ity

 
in

ve
st

m
en

ts

Lo
an

s 
an

d 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s

A
va

ila
bl

e-
fo

r-s
al

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 

as
se

ts

Fi
na

nc
ia

l l
ia

bi
lit

ie
s 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

th
ro

ug
h 

pr
of

ita
nd

 
lo

ss
 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l L
ia

bi
lit

ie
s 

at
 

am
or

tis
ed

 c
os

t

D
er

iv
at

iv
es

 d
es

ig
na

te
d 

as
 

ca
sh

 fl
ow

 h
ed

ge
s

O
th

er
 d

er
iv

at
iv

es

Total
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 8,698 - - - - - 8,698
Trade debtors and other receivables - - 8,407 - - - - - 8,407
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - 116 29 145
Other financial assets 164 - - - - - - - 164

164 - 17,105 - - - 116 29 17,414

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other payables - - - - - 3,289 - - 3,289
Loans and borrowings - - - - - - - - -
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - - - -

- - - - - 3,289 - - 3,289
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Classification of financial instruments
Parent 2010
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Total
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 2,809 - - - - - 2,809
Trade debtors and other receivables - - 6,407 - - - - - 6,407
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - (40) 53 13
Other financial assets 162 - - - - - - - 162

162 - 9,216 - - - (40) 53 9,391

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other payables - - - - - 2,926 - - 2,926
Loans and borrowings - - - - - - - - -
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - - - -

- - - - - 2,926 - - 2,926
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Financial instruments measured at fair value
The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the 
statement of financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.  This hierarchy 
groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs used 
in measuring the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities.  The fair value hierarchy has 
the following levels: NZ IFRS 7.27B(a)
• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Group 2011 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets
Securities and debentures 951 - - 951
Money market funds 655 - - 655
Derivatives - 561 21 582

1,606 561 21 2,188
Liabilities
US dollar bank loan - 7,950 - 7,950

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Group 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets
Securities and debentures 888 - - 888
Money market funds 649 - - 649
Derivatives - 24 28 52

1,537 24 28 1,589
Liabilities
US dollar bank loan - 8,220 - 8,220

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Parent 2011 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets
Securities and debentures - - - -
Money market funds 164 - - 164
Derivatives - - - -

164 - - 164
Liabilities
US dollar bank loan - - - -
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Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Parent 2010 $000 $000 $000 $000
Assets
Listed securities and debentures - - - -
Money market funds 162 - - 162
Derivatives - - - -

162 - - 162
Liabilities
US dollar bank loan - - - -

There have been no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 in the reporting periods.

Derivatives NZ IFRS 7.27(a)
NZ IFRS 7.27(b)

Where derivatives are traded either on exchanges or liquid over-the-counter markets the Group 
uses the closing price at the reporting date.  Normally, the derivatives entered into by the 
Parent and Group are not traded in active markets.  The fair values of these contracts are 
estimated using a valuation technique that maximises the use of observable market inputs, e.g. 
market exchange and interest rates (Level 2).  Most derivatives entered into by the Parent and 
Group are included in Level 2 and consist of foreign currency forward contracts.  A few of the 
Parent and Group's derivative positions in foreign currency forward contracts are classified 
within Level 3.  These primarily relate to positions in currencies for which markets are less 
developed.

Level 3 fair value measurements NZ IFRS 7.27B(c)
The Group's measurement of financial assets and liabilities classified in Level 3 uses valuation 
techniques based on significant inputs that are not based on observable market data.  The fair 
value movement of financial instruments within this level can be summarised as follows:

Group
2011 2010
$000 $000

Opening balance 28 34
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss 23 18
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income - -
Purchases - -
Sales - -
Settlements (30) (24)
Closing balance 21 28

Fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss for the year are presented in “finance 
income” and can be attributed as follows:

NZ IFRS 7.27B(d)

Assets held at the end of the reporting year 21 28
Assets not held at the end of the reporting year 2 (10)
Total fair value gain/(loss) recognised on level 3 financial 
instruments 23 18
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Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

Changing inputs to the Level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumptions 
would not change significantly amounts recognised in profit or loss, total assets or total 
liabilities or total equity.

NZ IFRS 7.27B(e)

There have been no transfers into or out of level 3 in the reported years. NZ IFRS 7.27B(c)(iv)

Financial instrument risk management NZ IFRS 7.33
The Parent and Group are exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The 
main types of risks are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Parent and Group are exposed to market risk through their use of financial instruments 
and specifically to currency risk, interest rate risk and certain other price risks, which result 
from both its operating and investing activities.

The Parent and Company have a series of policies to manage the risk associated with financial 
instruments. Policies have been established which do not allow transactions that are 
speculative in nature to be entered into and the Parent and Group are not actively engaged in 
the trading of financial instruments. As part of this policy, limits of exposure have been set and 
are monitored on a regular basis.

NZ IFRS 7.IG15

(i) Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to a change 
in foreign exchange rates. 

Most of the Parent and Group transactions are carried out in NZD.  Exposures to currency 
exchange rates arise from the Group's overseas sales and purchases, which are primarily 
denominated in Australian dollars (AUD) and US dollars (USD).  The Parent and Group also 
holds an investment in a USD bond and a USD loan designated at fair value through profit or 
loss, which has been used to fund the purchase of investment property in the United States.

NZ IFRS 7.33(a)

To mitigate the Parent and Group's exposure to foreign currency risk, non-NZD cash flows are 
monitored and forward exchange contracts are entered into in accordance with the Parent and 
Group’s risk management policies.  Generally, the Parent and Group's risk management 
procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due within 6 months) from 
longer-term cash flows (due after 6 months).  Where the amounts to be paid and received in a 
specific currency are expected to largely offset one another, no further hedging activity is 
undertaken.  Forward exchange contracts are mainly entered into for significant long-term 
foreign currency exposures that are not expected to be offset by other currency transactions. 

NZ IFRS 7.33(b)
NZ IFRS 7.IG15
NZ IFRS 7.33(c)

The Parent and Group do not enter into forward exchange contracts to mitigate the exposure to 
foreign currency risk on the Group's USD loan used to fund the purchase of US investment 
property.  The loan is designated at fair value through profit and loss to significantly reduce 
measurement inconsistencies between investment properties and the related loan, i.e. a 
foreign currency loss on the investment property is offset by a gain on the related loan.  
Therefore, the loan is not included in management's assessment of foreign currency exposure.



Grant Thornton Holdings (NZ) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
30 June 2011

99

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities which expose the Group to 
currency risk are disclosed below (the Parent does not hold any foreign currency balances).  
The amounts shown are those reported to key management translated into NZD at the closing 
rate:

NZ IFRS 7.34(c)

Short-term exposure Long-term exposure
AUD USD Other AUD USD Other

30 June 2011 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial assets 3,629 4,518 308 - 1,363 -
Financial liabilities 1,658 710 - - - -
Net exposure 1,971 3,808 308 - 1,363 -

30 June 2010
Financial assets 1,840 2,920 233 - 1,442 -
Financial liabilities 1,368 586 - - - -
Net exposure 472 2,334 233 - 1,442 -

Sensitivity analysis NZ IFRS 7.40(a)

The following analysis illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity in regards to the Group's 
financial assets and financial liabilities carried in foreign currencies.  It assumes a +/- 10% 
change in the exchange rate for the year ended at 30 June 2011 (2010:10%).  

The percentage movement has been determined based on the average exchange rate market 
volatility for the NZD in the previous 12 months.  The sensitivity analysis is based on the 
Group's foreign currency financial instruments held at each reporting date and also takes into 
account forward exchange contracts that offset effects from changes in currency exchange 
rates.

2011 2010
$000 $000

Profit for 
the year

Equity Profit 
for the 

year

Equity

10% increase NZD against foreign currencies (197) (147) (77) (27)
10% decrease in NZD against foreign currencies 195 135 73 33

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume of 
overseas transactions.  Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of 
the Parent and Group's exposure to currency risk.

NZ IFRS 7.42

(ii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.

NZ IFRS 7.42

The Parent and Group are exposed to interest rate risk on funds borrowed at both fixed 
and variable rates. The Parent held no interest bearing liabilities in the years reported. 
Interest rate risk is managed by the Parent and Group maintaining an appropriate mix 
between fixed and floating rates.

NZ IFRS 7.33(a)
NZ IFRS 7.33(b)
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The Parent and Group are also exposed to interest rate risk on interest bearing financial 
assets. The Group’s investment in bonds all pay fixed interest rates and the interest risk 
exposure on money market funds is considered immaterial.

Sensitivity analysis
The following analysis illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity to a reasonably 
possible change in interest rates of +/- 1% (2010: +/- 1%).  These changes are 
considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions.  
The calculations are based on a change in the average market interest rate for each 
period, and the financial instruments held at each reporting date that are sensitive to 
changes in interest rates.  All other variables are held constant.

NZ IFRS 7.40(a)
NZ IFRS 7.40(b)  

2011 2010
$000 $000

Profit 
for the 

year

Equity Profit 
for the 

year

Equity

1% increase in market borrowing interest rates (36) (26) (32) (23)
1% decrease in market borrowing interest rates 36 16 32 14

(iii) Other market risk
Other market risk is the risk that the carrying amount (and the ultimate amount realised upon 
sale) of financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market demand. The Group 
is exposed to other price risk in respect of its listed equity securities, the investment in XY Ltd 
and debentures.

NZ IFRS 7.33(a)

Sensitivity analysis
NZ IFRS 7.40(a)

For listed equity securities, an average volatility of 20% has been observed during 2011 
(2010:18%).  This volatility figure is considered to be a suitable basis for estimating how profit 
or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in market risk that were reasonably 
possible at the reporting date.  If the quoted stock price for these securities increased or 
decreased by that amount, other comprehensive income and equity would have changed by 
$85,000 (2010:$62,000). The listed securities are classified as available-for-sale, therefore no 
effect on profit or loss would have occurred.

NZ IFRS 7.40(b)

The Group's sensitivity to price risk in regards to its investment in XY Ltd cannot be 
reliably determined due to numerous uncertainties regarding the future development of 
this company.

The average volatility of the listed debentures was 15% in 2011 (2010:14%).  If the 
market price had increased or decreased by this amount, other comprehensive income 
and equity would have increased/decreased by $15,000 (2010:$15,000)).  As none of 
the debentures classified as available-for-sale were sold during any of the periods under 
review, no effect on profit or loss would have occurred (unless any decline in fair value to 
below cost is considered to result from impairment of the asset).
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(iv) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the Parent and Group, 
causing the Parent and Group to incur a loss. The Parent and Group have no significant 
concentration of risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents, trade debtors and other financial 
assets. The Parent and Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other 
counterparties, identified either individually or by group, and incorporates this information into 
its credit risk controls.

NZ IFRS 7.33(a)
NZ IFRS 7.33(b)
NZ IFRS 7.36(c)

The carrying value of financial assets represents the Parent and Group maximum exposure to 
credit risk at balance date. 

NZ IFRS 7.34(a)

The Parent and Group's management considers that all financial assets that are not impaired 
or past due for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. None of the 
Group's financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

NZ IFRS 7.36(c)
NZ IFRS 7.36(b)

The ageing of trade debtors and other receivables has been detailed in note 16. 

The balance of all trade receivables that are past due at the reporting date and are not 
impaired can be summarised as follows:

NZ IFRS 7.37(a)
NZ IFRS 7.IG28

Group Parent
2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Not more than 3 months 23 - 6 -
Between 3 and 6 months - - - -
Between 6 months and 1 year - - - -
More than one year - - - -
Total - - - -

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents, money market funds, debentures and derivate 
financial instruments is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with 
high quality external credit ratings.

NZ IFRS 7.36(c)

(v) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk represents the Parent and Group’s ability to meet is contractual obligations as 
they fall due. The Parent and Group manage liquidity risk by managing cash flows and 
ensuring that adequate credit lines are in place to cover any potential short falls.

NZ IFRS 7.33(a)

The Parent and Group manages its liquidity needs by monitoring scheduled debt servicing 
payments for long-term financial liabilities as well as forecast cash inflows and outflows due in 
day-to-day business.  The data used for analysing these cash flows is consistent with that used 
in the contractual maturity analysis below.  Net cash requirements are compared to available 
borrowing facilities in order to determine headroom or any shortfalls.  This analysis shows that 
available borrowing facilities are expected to be sufficient over the lookout period.

NZ IFRS 7.33(b)
NZ IFRS 7.39(c)

The Parent and Group's objective is to maintain cash and marketable securities to meet 
its liquidity requirements for 30-day periods at a minimum.  This objective has been met
for the current years reported.  Funding for long-term liquidity needs is additionally 
secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to sell long-
term financial assets.

NZ IFRS 7.39(c)
NZ IFRS 7.B11F

NZ IFRS 7.IG31(c)
NZ IFRS 7.IG31(d)
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The Parent and Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing 
and managing liquidity risk, in particular its cash resources and trade receivables.  The 
Group's existing cash resources and trade receivables significantly exceed the current 
cash outflow requirements.  Cash flows from trade and other receivables are all 
contractually due within six months.

NZ IFRS 7.B11E

The Parent and Group's non-derivative financial liabilities have contractual maturities 
(including interest payments where applicable) as summarised below:

NZ IFRS 7.39(a)
NZ IFRS 7.B11

Group 2011 Contractual cash flow maturities

Carrying 
amounts

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Later 
than 5 
years

Trade creditors and other payables 8,547 8,547 8,547 - - -
Finance lease obligations 4,608 5,682 364 364 1,415 3,539

NZD bank loans 4,565 4,565 4,565 - - -

USD bank loan 7,950 10,536 280 280 1,761 8,215

Non-convertible bond 8,300 9,304 208 208 8,888 -

Total 33,970 38,634 13,964 852 12,064 11,754

Group 2010 Contractual cash flow maturities

Carrying 
amounts

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Later 
than 5 
years

Trade creditors and other payables 6,590 6,590 6,590 - - -
Finance lease obligations 5,114 6,230 363 363 1,432 4,072

NZD bank loans 3,124 3,124 3,124 - - -

USD bank loan 8,220 10,867 289 289 1,781 8,508

Non-convertible bond 8,300 9,719 208 208 9,303 -

Total 31,348 36,530 10,574 860 12,516 12,580

Parent 2011 Contractual cash flow maturities

Carrying 
amounts

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Later 
than 5 
years

Trade creditors and other payables 2,497 2,497 2,497 - - -
Finance lease obligations 1,152 1,421 91 91 354 885

Loans and borrowings - - - - - -
Total 3,649 3,918 2,588 91 354 885

Parent 2010 Contractual cash flow maturities

Carrying 
amounts

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 6 
months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Later 
than 5 
years

Trade creditors and other payables 1,648 1,648 1,648 - - -
Finance lease obligations 1,278 1,558 91 91 358 1,018

Total 2,926 3,206 1,739 91 358 1,018
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Note: the subordinated shareholder loan amounting to $5,000,000 (2010:$5,000,000), which is 
disclosed within loans and borrowing in the Statement of Financial Position is not included with 
the liquidity maturity analysis above. The subordinated shareholder loan is only repayable upon 
liquidation of the Group.

39 Capital management policies and procedures NZ IAS 1.134

The Parent and Group manage its capital on a Group basis.

The Group's capital management objectives are:

• to ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
• to provide an adequate return to shareholders

This is achieved by pricing products and services commensurately within the level of risk.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity plus its subordinated 
loan, less cash and cash equivalents as presented on the face of the statement of financial 
position and cash flow hedges recognised in other comprehensive income.

NZ IAS 1.135(a)(i)

The Group's goal in capital management is to maintain a capital-to-overall financing ratio of 1:6 
to 1:4.  This is in line with the Group's covenants resulting from the subordinated loan it has 
taken out from its main shareholder in 2007.

NZ IAS 1.135(a)(ii)

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e. equity 
and financial liabilities other than its subordinated loan.  The Group manages the capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

NZ IAS 1.135(a)(iii)

Capital for the reporting periods under review is summarised as follows: NZ IAS 1.135(b)

Group
2011 2010
$000 $000

Total equity 83,914 52,388
Subordinated loan 5,000 5,000
Cash flow hedges (469) 160
Cash and cash equivalent (34,789) (11,237)
Capital 53,656 46,311

Total equity 83,914 52,388
Borrowings 25,815 24,644
Overall financing 109,729 77,032

Capital-to-overall financing ratio 0.49 0.60

The Group has honoured its covenant obligations, including maintaining capital ratios, since 
the subordinated loan was taken out in 2007.  The ratio-reduction during 2011 is primarily a 
result of financing the acquisition of Good Tech Limited.

NZ IAS 1.135(d)
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40 Related party transactions
Related parties arise when an entity or person(s) has the ability to influence the financial and 
operating decisions of the Parent and Group.

The Parent and Group's related parties include its subsidiaries, associates and joint venture 
and key management personnel.  In addition the Group has a subordinated loan from the 
Parents main shareholder, the LOM Investment Trust (see note 22 for information on terms 
and conditions), on which interest is paid.

NZ IAS 24

Unless otherwise stated transactions with related parties in the years reported have been on 
an arms-length basis, none of the transactions included special terms, conditions or 
guarantees.

NZ IAS 24.17(b)(i)
NZ IAS 24.17(b)(ii)

Parent and ultimate controlling party
The Parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group is Grant Thornton Holdings (NZ) 
Limited. 

NZ IAS 24.12

Transactions with subsidiaries NZ IAS12.17,22

The Parent provided administrative and management support to subsidiary entities, 
which was on-charged to the subsidiaries for a value of $567,989 in the year (2010: 
$678,986).

The Parent did not receive any dividends or any other income from subsidiaries in the 
year (2010:$Nil).

All inter-group debtor and creditor balances were fully settled at year-end (2010:$Nil). NZ IAS 24.17(b)

Transactions with Associates
In order to meet peak demands by its customers, the Group has some of its consulting services 
carried out by professionals of its associate, Equipe Consultants Example Limited.

NZ IAS 24.17

During 2011, Equipe Consultants Example Limited provided services valued at $568,000 
(2010:$590,000).  The outstanding balance of $20,000 (2010:$22,000) due to Equipe 
Consultants Limited is included in trade payables.

In 2011, no transactions have been carried out with Shopmore Example Limited.  

The Group did not receive any dividends from associates in 2011 or 2010.

NZ IAS 24.17(a)
NZ IAS 24.17(b)

Transactions with Joint Ventures
During 2011, Halftime Limited provided services valued at $10,000 (2010:$3,000).  For joint 
ventures the full amount of the transactions are shown.  These amounts are recognised using 
the proportionate consolidation method. 

NZ IAS 24.18(e)
NZ IAS 24.17(a)

There are no outstanding balances as at 31 June 2011 (2010:$Nil). The Group did not receive 
dividends from Halftime Limited in 2010 or 2011.

NZ IAS 24.17(b)
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Transactions with key management personal NZ IAS 24.16

The Parent and Group have a related party relationship with its key management personnel. 
Key management personnel include the Parent’s Board of Directors and members of the 
Executive Council, and Senior Management.

Key management personnel compensation includes the following expenses (all were incurred 
by the Parent):

Parent
2011 2010
$000 $000

Short-term employee benefits 2,710 2,434 NZ IAS 24.16(a)

Post-employment benefits 337 311 NZ IAS 24.16(b)

Other long-term benefits - - NZ IAS 24.16(c)

Termination benefits 100 - NZ IAS 24.16(d)

Share-based payment 103 175 NZ IAS 24.16(e)

Total 3,250 2,920

During 2011 key management exercised share options with total exercise price of $1,685,000 
(2010: $Nil) granted in the Group's Star Programme.

NZ IAS 24.17

The Parent and Group allow its employees to take up limited short-term loans to fund 
merchandise and other purchases through the Group's business contacts.  This facility is also 
available to the Group's key management personnel.

During 2011, the Group's key management received short term loans totalling $40,000 (2010: 
$38,000).  The outstanding balance of $1,000 (2010 and 2009: $1,000) has been included in 
'trade and other receivables'. There are no allowances for doubtful debts in relation to these 
loans (2010: $Nil)

NZ IAS 24.17(a)
NZ IAS 24.17(b)

The Parent and Group used the legal services of one director in the company and the law firm 
over which he exercises significant influence.  The amounts billed were based on normal 
market rates and amounted to $21,000 (2010: Nil).  There were no outstanding balances at the 
reporting dates under review.

41 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
The Parent and Group have no contingent assets.

NZ IAS 1.114(d)(i)

Various warranty and legal claims were brought against the Parent Group during the year.  
Unless recognised as a provision, management considers these claims to be unjustified and 
the probability that they will require settlement at the Parent and Group's expense to be 
remote.  This evaluation is consistent with external independent legal advice (2010: Nil).

NZ IAS 37.89
NZ IAS 37.86

Further information on these contingencies is omitted so as not to seriously prejudice the 
Parents and Group's position in the related disputes.

NZ IAS 37.92

No contingent liabilities have been incurred by the Parent and Group in relation to associates 
and joint ventures.

NZ IAS 28.40
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42 Capital commitments
Parent and Group NZ IAS 16.74(c)

2011 2010
$000 $000

Within 12 months 1,500 190
Greater than 12 months - -

1,500 190

Capital commitments are for items of plant and IT equipment where contracts have been 
agreed but the assets are not yet received at the reporting date.

43 After balance date events
There were no significant after balance date events (2010: None). NZ IAS 10.19,21
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Two statement approach 
In accordance with NZ IAS 1. 81 the “Statement of Comprehensive Income” may be presented in either 
two statements, the “Income Statement” and a “Statement of Comprehensive Income”, or a single
“Statement of Comprehensive Income”. 

The main body of these model financial statements presents the statement of comprehensive income in 
one statement. In this appendix, the alternative an example of presenting the statement of comprehensive 
income as two statements is presented.

The accounting policies will need to disclose that the alternative of two statements in the statement of 
comprehensive income has been adopted. In general, the accounting policies will need to be tailored so 
that they refer to the “Income Statement” and not the “Statement of Comprehensive Income” where 
appropriate.

Presenting the income statement by function or nature of expenses
NZ IAS 1.99 allows an “income Statement” format analysing expenses using a classification based on 
either the nature of expenses (NOE) or based on the function of expenses (FOE) within equity. This 
depends on management’s assessment of which format provides information that is reliable and more 
relevant.

The FOE format is illustrated in the main body of the model financial statements. The NOE format is 
illustrated in this appendix. The FOE and NOE formats do not affect the presentation requirements for 
other comprehensive income movements. Only the “income statement” is affected.      
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NZ IAS 1.10(b) Income statement (alternative 2)

For the year ended 30 June 2011
Notes Group Parent

NZ IAS 1.38, 39 2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

NZ IAS 1.82 (a) Revenue 9 206,193 191,593 51,548 47,898
NZ IAS 1.85 Other income 427 641 - -
NZ IAS 1.85 Changes in inventories (7,823) (5,573) (1,956) (1,393)
NZ IAS 1.85 Cost of materials (42,634) (40,666) (3,791) (6,350)
NZ IAS 1.85 Employee benefits expense (114,190) (108,673) (18,050) (30,985)
NZ IAS 1.85 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of 

non-financial assets
(7,942) (6,061) (1,986) (1,515)

NZ IAS 1.85 Other expenses (12,722) (12,285) (6,898) (3,817)
Operating profit 10 21,309 18,976 18,867 3,838

Finance income 11 994 793 249 198
NZ IAS 1.82(b) Finance costs 11 (3,473) (3,594) - (87)

Net financing costs (2,479) (2,801) 249 111

NZ IAS 1.82(c) Share of profits of associates 7 60 12 60 12
Change in fair value of investment property 310 175 78 44
Other financial assets movements 12 3,388 3,599 847 900
Profit before tax 22,588 19,961 19,233 4,905

NZ IAS 1.82(d)
NZ IAS 1.12.77 Income tax expense 13 (7,132) (6,184) (1,783) (1,546)
NZ IAS 1.82(f) Profit for the year from continuing 

operations
15,456 13,777 17,450 3,363

NZ IAS 1.82(e)
NZ IFRS 5.33(a)

Loss for the year from discontinued 
operations (net of income tax)

20 (9) (325) - -

Profit for the year 15,447 13,452 17,450 3,363

Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Net profit for the year is attributable to:
NZ IAS 1.83(a)(i) Equity holders of the parent 15,326 13,336 17,448 3,363
NZ IAS 1.83(a)(i) Non controlling interest 121 116 - -

Total 15,447 13,452 17,448 3,363

NZ IAS 33.66 Earnings per share
From continuing and discontinuing operations
Basic (cents per share) 1.22 1.14
Diluted (cents per share) (0.00) (0.03)
Total 1.22 1.11

NZ IAS 33.66 Earnings per share
From continuing operations
Basic (cents per share) 1.22 1.14
Diluted (cents per share) (0.00) (0.03)
Total 1.22 1.11
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NZ IAS 1.10(b) Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Notes Group Parent
2011
$000

2010
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Net Profit for the year 15,447 13,452 17,450 3,363

NZ IAS 1.82(g) Other comprehensive income
NZ IAS 16.77(f) Gains/(losses) on revaluation of land 303 - 76 -

Cash flow hedges 
NZ IFRS 7.23 - Current year gains/ (losses) 367 (47) 92 (12)
NZ IAS 1.92 - Reclassification to profit and loss 260 (425) 65 (106)

Available-for-sale financial assets 
NZ IFRS 7.20(a) - Current year gains/ (losses) 113 35 28 9
NZ IAS1.92 - Reclassification to profit and loss (50) - (13) -

Translation of foreign operations
NZ IAS 21.52(b) - Current year gains/ (losses) (664) (341) (166) (85)
NZ IAS1.92 - Reclassification to profit and loss - - - -

Other comprehensive income - associates
NZ IAS 1.82(h) - Current year gains/ (losses) 7 5 - 5 -
NZ IAS 1.92 - Reclassification to profit and loss 7 (3) - (3) -
NZ IAS 1.90 Income tax on other comprehensive income 14 85 95 21 24
NZ IAS 1.82(i) Other comprehensive income for the year 416 (683) 103 (170)

NZ IAS 1.82(i) Total comprehensive income for the year 15,863 12,769 17,553 3,272

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:
NZ IAS 1.83(b)(ii) Equity holders of the parent 15,742 12,653 17,553 3,272
NZ IAS 1.83(b)(i) Non controlling interest 121 116 - -

Total 15,863 12,769 17,553 3,272
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